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HIGHLIGHTS

■■ Continued profitable revenue growth
■■ Market growth has created a highly competitive market for recruitment of IT experts 
■■ Continued long-lasting customer relations and several new clients won
■■ Successful IPO followed by listing of the Company’s shares on Oslo Stock Exchange
■■ Strong financial position and positive outlook for 2018 support dividend proposal of NOK 1.50 per share,   

representing more than 117 per cent of annual net profit
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■■ Continued profitable revenue growth
■■ Market growth has created a highly competitive market for recruitment of IT experts 
■■ Continued long-lasting customer relations and several new clients won
■■ Successful IPO followed by listing of the Company’s shares on Oslo Stock Exchange
■■ Strong financial position and positive outlook for 2018 support dividend proposal of NOK 1.50 per share,   

representing more than 117 per cent of annual net profit

KEY FIGURES

CONSOLIDATED
Amounts in NOK million 2017 2016

Sales revenues 596.5 562.5
Sales growth, year-on-year 6.0% 2.5%
EBITDA1) 57.1 72.7
EBITDA margin1) 9.6% 12.9%
EBITDA excl. non-recurring costs1) 71.0 72.7
EBITDA margin excl. non-recurring costs1) 11.9% 12.9%
Net profit 33.9 40.5
Net cash flow (73.7) 12.5

Earnings per share (NOK) 1.55 2.02
Earnings per share, fully dilluted (NOK) 1.55 2.02

Average number of employees, full time equivalents 393 394
Total number of employees at year end 402 384
Number of work days, (excl. vacation) 251 253
EBITDA per average employee1) (tNOK) 145.3 184.6
EBITDA per average employee excl. non-recurring costs1) (tNOK) 180.7 184.6
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1) See note 25 to the Consolidated Financial Statements on page 48 for alternative performance measures.
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Letter from the CEO

DEAR SHAREHOLDER
Looking back at 2017 I am pleased to note that Webstep is back 
in growth mode after two stable years. Revenues grew by six per 
cent to nearly NOK 600 million, with healthy profit margins and an 
EBITDA at NOK 71 million before non-recurring items. 

From an investor perspective, one cor-
porate milestone stands out last year, 
namely our decision to invite new share-
holders to join us on our journey and be-
come a publicly listed company. The Web-
step shares started trading on the Oslo 
Stock Exchange in October.

As we expected, the listing process was 
time consuming for board and manage-
ment, but our concern that it could dis-
tract us from business proved wrong. In 
my mind, that says a lot about the quality 
of the people in our team, their commit-
ment to our customers and to Webstep.

PEOPLE ARE KEY
People are the true driver behind Web-
step’s many successes. Over time, we 
have managed to recruit the right peo-
ple, experts who understand our cus-
tomers and their challenges, and who 
are able to solve complex tasks in an  
efficient manner.

At the end of 2017, we were 358 ex-
pert consultants from 11 nationalities 
at five locations in Norway and two in 
Sweden. We are helping our customers 
transform and disrupt their respective 
businesses.  
We are helping them stay in the lead.

Our experts work with customers in a 

– Over time, we have managed to recruit the right 
people, experts who understand our customers 
and their challenges, and who are able to solve 
complex tasks in an efficient manner.
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wide range of industries. Finance and in-
surance for instance, have long played a 
key role as new technology creates op-
portunities for robotic process automa-
tion. We are working with machine learn-
ing on satellite data to predict climate re-
lated risk. We are building complex sys-
tems that control the logistics chain in 
distribution of food, and we have built pro-
grammes that help children learn to read 
– and immigrants to learn a new language.

Strong market fundamentals are ob-
served in all Webstep locations. Increas-

ing demand from customers is met with 
increased delivery capacity, resulting in 
a strong order backlog. Adding new ex-
pertise and capacity continue to be pri-
oritised, as key success criteria for fur-
ther profitable growth.

MEETING PRESENT AND FUTURE 
NEEDS
Our market and services can logically be 
organised in two main categories – Core 
Services and New Services – and the 
right balance between the two is key in 
our strategy.

Core Services are typically built on 
mature technologies and solutions, and 
includes deliveries such as digitisation, 
cloud solutions and system integration. 
New Services are rapidly growing, based 
on emerging technologies, for instance 
related to Internet of Things, analytics 
and machine learning.

Core Services typically represents 
85–90 per cent of our business, New 
Services the remaining 10–15 per cent. 
When we strike the right balance, we will 
be delivering steady growth and profits 
in the short to medium term and at the 
same time, lay the foundation for contin-
ued success in the longer term.

These days, technology is changing so 
fast that we often find ourselves in situa-
tions where our customer does not nec-
essarily know what he can have or exactly 

what she needs. Then we must apply our 
insight and skills to bridge the gap, we 
must understand their business, and at 
the same time be true masters of our own.

This mix of mature and emerging is 
also much appreciated by our expert con-
sultants. With Webstep, they get the op-
portunity to working on solving the most 
complex challenges in an environment 
that offers great flexibility. Last year 
Webstep was named Great Place to Work 
for the tenth consecutive year. Such facts 
speak louder than words.

INTERESTING OPPORTUNITIES 
AHEAD 
As high investment activity continues in 
both private and public sector, our overall 
market outlook is robust. The order book 
entering 2018 is strong, and we expect 
continued high demand for our offering.

We are fortunate. We are well posi-
tioned in the market on a sound finan-
cial platform. We have a good name, we 
have great people and attract the best. 
We have customers that inspire and en-
courage us and allow us to apply all our 
skills and ability to innovate. For this I 
am grateful, and I am also encouraged 
with the opportunities that lie before 
us and our ability to continue to create 
shareholder value.

Kjetil Eriksen, CEO

Source: Radar Ecosystem
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Board of directors’ report

CONTINUED GROWTH AND STRONG OUTLOOK 
Webstep saw continued profitable growth in 2017 and is well positioned to 
strengthen its position in 2018. The market outlook is positive and Webstep en-
tered 2018 with a strong order book. The board proposes a dividend of NOK 
1.50 per share, representing 117 per cent of the Group’s net profit for 2017. The 
strong focus on recruitment will continue in 2018, being a key success factor for 
further profitable growth in a market with high demand for Webstep’s services.

(All amounts in brackets are  
comparative figures for 2016 unless 
otherwise specifically stated). 

The growth in the Nordic IT consult-
ing market continues and Webstep ASA 
saw a six per cent revenue growth in 
2017 with total consolidated revenues 
amounting to NOK 596.5 million. The 
upturn in spending among financial ser-
vices clients has been a key growth 
driver together with the generally in-
creased importance of IT. The high in-
terest in digitalisation for innovation 
has generated high investment activity 
across industries and sectors. 

The market fundamentals are seen 
as strong, with particularly high de-
mand for Webstep’s Core Services. In-
creasing demand from customers is 
met with increased capacity, resulting 
in a strong order backlog at the end of 
2017. 

Adding new expertise and capacity 
continues to be prioritised, as key suc-
cess factors to realise future profitable 
growth. Webstep’s recruitment strategy 
has proven successful in a highly com-
petitive market.

– The market 
fundamentals are 
seen as strong, with 
particularly high 
demand for Webstep’s 
Core Services.
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During 2017, the Group has demon-
strated its ability to attract highly skilled 
employees, securing new experienced 
experts and increased billable capacity 
for 2018. The strong focus on employer 
branding and recruitment will continue 
in order to increase future growth ca-
pacity.

Webstep completed a successful In-
itial Public Offering (IPO) in the fourth 
quarter of 2017, followed by a listing of 
the Company’s shares on the Oslo Stock 
Exchange on 11 October. New equity 
was raised as part of the IPO, with net 
proceeds of NOK 123 million. Results 
for 2017 include IPO expenses and other 
non-recurring items totalling NOK 14 mil-
lion. Consolidated EBITDA for 2017 be-
fore non-recurring items was 71.0 mil-
lion, compared to NOK 72.7 million in 
2016. The slight decrease in EBITDA 
before non-recurring items is mainly a 
consequence of investments in new ser-
vices and the high number of new expert 
hires, giving a higher amount of mini-
mum salary in the initial employment 
period. EBITDA including non-recurring 
items came to NOK 57.1 million. 

Net proceeds from the share capi-
tal issue were used to partly repay debt 
and has strengthened the Company’s fi-
nancial position significantly. This, com-
bined with the strong order backlog and 
positive outlook for 2018, are main rea-

sons behind the board of director’s in-
tention to propose a dividend of NOK 
1.50 per share, representing 117 per cent 
of the annual net profit for 2017. 

OVERVIEW OF THE BUSINESS 
The board of directors’ report for the 
Webstep group (“Webstep”, the Com-
pany or “the Group”) comprises Webstep 
ASA (“the parent company”) and all sub-
sidiaries and associated companies.

The parent company, Webstep ASA, is 
a Norwegian public limited liability com-
pany with its head office in Oslo, Nor-
way. The Group has offices in Norway 
and Sweden and had a total of 402 em-
ployees at 31 December 2017.

Webstep is a high-end provider of IT 
consultancy services in Norway and Swe-
den. Since its establishment in 2000, the 
Group has offered IT solutions designed 
to address its customers' software needs 
by creating functional custom-made dig-
ital tools and applications optimizing the 
customers' business strategies. Webstep 
aims to be at the forefront of the techno-
logical development and to assist its cus-
tomers in their digitalisation through the 
offering of cutting-edge IT expertise. The 
Group's core digitalisation offerings are 
digitalisation, cloud migration and inte-
gration, in addition to its other core focus 
areas Internet of Things (IoT), machine 
learning and analytics.

An important part of the Group's 
strategy is to employ and offer only sen-
ior IT consultants with significant expe-
rience and a high education level. As of 
31 December 2017, the Group employed 
402 employees, of which approximately 
360 were IT consultants. The Group's IT 
consultants have on average more than 
10 years of experience.

Webstep's highly dedicated team of 
employees possesses in-depth technical 
insight and expertise within a wide range 
of industry sectors, enabling the Group 
to provide first-class IT consultancy ser-
vices to customers in both the private 
and public sector and in a number of dif-
ferent business areas, including banking, 
finance and insurance, public adminis-
tration, IT and telecommunication, com-
merce and transportation. The Group 
differentiates itself from its competitors 
by offering consultancy services from a 
highly experienced team of consultants 
and by focusing on quality deliveries.

Webstep’s strategy is to continue 
its organic growth within the business 
sectors in which it currently operates 
and within its current service offer-
ings. The Group will continue to have 
a particular focus on new IT trends for 
which it notices increased demand by 
its customers.

The Group intends to broaden its 
offering within both core services and 
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new services throughout its organisa-
tion, both in Sweden and Norway. Es-
tablishing offices in new geographical 
areas in Norway and Sweden will also 
be considered. 

In addition to organic growth, Web-
step is monitoring the market for po-
tential acquisition targets, which may 
increase the Group's competence, geo-
graphical footprint and service and of-
fering level in both Norway and Sweden. 
Webstep is well positioned, by having 
consultants with the required qualifica-
tions and skill set, to be able to offer and 
deliver new technological innovations 
and trends to its current and new cus-
tomers.

Webstep has sales teams at all of 
its offices and within each of the busi-
ness segments in which it offers its ser-
vices. Webstep's business is conducted 
through the Group’s two subsidiaries, 
Webstep AS in Norway and Webstep 
AB in Sweden. The Group has offices 
in Oslo, Bergen, Stavanger, Trondheim, 
Kristiansand (Norway), and in Stockholm 
and Malmö (Sweden).

HIGHLIGHTS 2017 
■■ Continued profitable revenue growth 
driven by high demand for digitalisa-
tion experts and increasing interest 
in new services, such as Internet of 
Things and Machine Learning

■■ The market growth has created a 
highly competitive market for recruit-
ment of IT experts. Webstep has 
proven a strong ability to retain and 
attract highly skilled employees, se-
curing further growth capacity going 
forward

■■ Continued long-lasting customer re-
lations and several new clients won, 
confirms a solid market position

■■ A successful IPO and a listing of the 
Company’s shares on Oslo Stock Ex-
change was completed in October

■■ Strong financial position and posi-
tive outlook for 2018 support dividend 
proposal of NOK 1.50 per share, rep-
resenting more than 117 per cent of 
annual net profit

FINANCIAL REVIEW 
The following financial review is based 
on the consolidated financial statements 
of Webstep ASA and its subsidiaries. 
The statements have been prepared in 
accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted 
by the EU as well as the Norwegian ac-
counting legislation. 

In the view of the board, the income 
statement, the statements of compre-
hensive income, changes in equity and 

cash flow, the balance sheet and the ac-
companying notes, provide satisfactory 
information about the operations, finan-
cial results and position of the Group 
and the parent company at 31 Decem-
ber 2017.

Consolidated statement of income and 
comprehensive income
Full year consolidated revenues 
amounted to NOK 596.5 million (NOK 
562.5 million), up 6.0 per cent and in line 
with the Group’s previously communi-
cated expectations 

Webstep’s revenue model is based on 
hourly fees, with revenue capacity de-
pending on the number of consultants 
and number of working days available. 
Calendar effects therefore cause dif-
ferences in revenue capacity between 
years. The full year 2017 had two calen-
dar days less than 2016.

Cost of services and goods sold 
amounted to NOK 49.3 million (NOK 
33.9 million) for the year, reflecting nor-
mal variations in the mix of internal re-
sources and subcontractors used in pro-
jects, as well as positive development in 
client relationships utilising subcontrac-
tors in Sweden.

The Group has a highly flexible and 
efficient cost base. Personnel expenses 
include salaries and benefits, pension, 
tax, vacation pay and other items. A high 
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proportion of salary is variable. New 
consultants receive a guaranteed base 
salary in the onboarding phase, which is 
the main driver for higher personnel ex-
penses in periods with high onboarding 
activity.

Salaries and personnel costs 
amounted to NOK 448.4 million (417.9 
million) and reflect high recruitment and 
onboarding activity, as well as non-re-
curring costs related to the IPO and a 

successful recruitment incentive pro-
gram as described below. 

The Group recorded non-recurring 
items of NOK 14 million in 2017, mainly 
consisting of IPO transaction costs and 
one-off costs related to a terminated re-
cruitment incentive program. 

Earnings before interest, taxes, de-
preciation and amortisation (EBITDA)1 
for 2017 before the above mentioned 
non-recurring items was 71.0 million, 
compared to NOK 72.7 million in 2016. 
EBITDA including non-recurring items 
was 57.1 million, compared to NOK 72.7 
million in 2016. There were no non-recur-
ring items in 2016. 

The slight decrease in EBITDA before 
non-recurring items is mainly a conse-
quence of the high onboarding and re-
cruitment activities in the second half of 
2017, impacting results with recruitment 
costs and onboarding costs, as well as 
a temporary increase in the use of mini-
mum salaries for new employees. These 
costs are investments in new services 
and additional growth capacity. 

Operating profit was NOK 48.9 million 
(62.1 million) for the full year 2017. The 
variations between 2016 and 2017 are 
explained above.

Net financial cost was NOK 8.6 mil-

lion (NOK 7.6 million). The increase is 
primarily due to final amortisation of 
a financing fee from the terminated 
long-term borrowings, which is recog-
nised as a financial expense in 2017. 

Income tax for the full year amounted 
to NOK 6.5 million (NOK 14.0 million). 
The taxes for the period is affected by 
the significant non-recurring costs in Q4 
2017, as previously described.

Net profit was NOK 33.9 million (NOK 
40.5 million) for the year.

Financial position
Total assets at 31 December amounted 
to NOK 528.3 million (NOK 557.8 mil-
lion). Non-current assets were NOK 
392.5 million (NOK 390.7 million) and 
mainly consisted of intangible assets. 
Intangible assets at balance date are 
NOK 387.1 million (NOK 385.0 million) 
and comprise acquisition-related good-
will of NOK 382.3 million, which is im-
pairment tested annually, and R&D in-
vestments of NOK 4.8 million.

Total current assets of NOK 135.7 mil-
lion (NOK 167.1 million) mainly consisted 
of trade receivables and cash and short-
term deposits. Trade receivables at year 
end were NOK 125.5 million (NOK 82.6 
million). The increase from the same 
balance date in 2016 is primarily a con-
sequence of 31 December 2017 falling 
on a Sunday, and concurrently being the 

1) See note 25 to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
on page 48 for alternative performance measures.
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due date for a significant part of the re-
ceivables. Such payments are normally 
registered as cash received after the 
weekend. Consequently, trade receiv-
ables dropped significantly in the first 
days of January. Approximately NOK 
45 million were paid by 3 January 2018, 
leaving trade receivables at approxi-
mately NOK 80 million after this date.

Cash and short-term deposits 
amounted to NOK 6.6 million (NOK 80.3 
million), impacted by the same effect as 
described above, with a NOK 45 million 
increase by 3 January as payments fall-
ing due on 31 December had been re-
corded as payments received.

The change in cash and short-term de-
posits between 31 December 2016 and 
the same date 2017 is partly a result of 
the Group’s cash pooling system after re-
financing through the IPO. Webstep en-
tered into new bank agreements, which 
include a cash pooling account system for 
the Norwegian operation. Cash and short-
term deposits and overdraft facilities are 
now being reported as a net figure, while it 
has previously been reported as separate 
gross figures on the balance sheet. The 
amounts reported at 31 December 2016 
as cash and debt to credit institutions 
have therefore been restated in order to be 
comparable with the net figure reported as 
of 31 December 2017. A restated overview 
of net cash and overdraft as of 31 Decem-

ber 2016 is included in note 16 to the ac-
counts, explaining the impact.

Total equity at 31 December was 
NOK 357.7 million (NOK 196.9 million). 
The change is mainly related to the 
share capital issue in connection with 
the IPO of the Company’s shares, as 
well as retained earnings generated in 
2017. Non-current liabilities amounted 
to NOK 1.6 million (164.8 million). The 
debt reduction is a consequence of the 

new capital structure following the IPO. 
The current liabilities amounted to NOK 
168.9 million (NOK 196 million). The 
changes are mainly due to reduced debt 
to credit institutions following the new 
capital structure.

A NOK 110 million Revolving Credit Fa-
cility (“RCF”) with SpareBank 1 SR-Bank 
ASA was entered into by the Company as 
a part of the IPO process. The RCF be-
came effective on 11 October 2017 upon 
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(i) completion of the offering with min-
imum gross proceeds from the offer of 
the New Shares of NOK 100 million, (ii) 
repayment and cancellation of the former 
Senior Facility Arrangement and (iii) can-
cellation of the former Overdraft Facility 
of NOK 40 million. The RCF may be uti-
lised by each member of the Group hav-
ing acceded to the cash pooling account 
system related to the RCF. At balance 
date NOK 24.3 million of the RCF was uti-
lised, leaving NOK 85.7 million unutilised.

Cash flow
Net cash flow year to date was a de-
crease of NOK 73.7 million (increase of 
NOK 12.6 million). The decrease is pri-
marily a consequence of the net effect 
of the financial restructuring post IPO 
and deferred client payments as de-
scribed above.

Net cash flow from operating activi-
ties was an increase of NOK 4.5 million 
(increase of NOK 50.5 million). The de-
crease is mainly related to lower oper-
ating profit due to non-recurring costs 
and deferred client payments registered 
as cash after the weekend of 31 Decem-
ber 2017. Approximately NOK 45 million 
trade receivables was recorded as cash 
by 3 January 2018.

Net cash flow from investing activi-
ties was a decrease of NOK 4.5 million 
(decrease of NOK 1.7 million). The de-

crease is mainly related to equipment 
for new employees and office upgrades.

Net cash flow from financing activi-
ties was a decrease of NOK 73.8 million 
(decrease of NOK 36.2 million). The de-
crease is due to significant repayment of 
borrowings of NOK 196.9 million and net 
proceeds from new equity of NOK 123.2 
million. 

SEGMENT INFORMATION 
The Group’s activities are organised in 
two geographical segments, Norway 
and Sweden. Revenues and results are 
recorded in the entity where they occur 
and hence reported in the segment in 
which the legal entity belongs. Segment 
performance is evaluated on the basis of 
revenue and EBITDA performance. As-
sets and liabilities are not allocated be-
tween the segments.

Norway is the largest segment, ac-
counting for 83 per cent of the consoli-
dated operating revenues in 2017. 

Norway
Webstep Norway is located in Oslo, Ber-
gen, Stavanger, Trondheim and Kris-
tiansand and provides high-end IT con-
sultancy services to more than 200 pub-
lic and private clients. The core digitali-
sation offering consists of digitalisation, 
cloud implementation, migration and in-
tegration. In addition, Webstep is stead-

ily taking advantage of key fast-growing 
markets with other core focus areas, in-
cluding Internet of Things (“IoT”), ma-
chine learning and analytics

Total operating revenues for 2017 
were NOK 495.2 million (NOK 478.5 mil-
lion), an increase of 3.5 per cent from 
2016. There is a high demand for Web-
step’s core IT services. Revenue growth 
for the full year was however impacted 
by onboarding activity and investments 
in new services, as well as calendar ef-
fects (two working day less than 2016). 

EBITDA excluding non-recurring cost 
for the year was NOK 65.4 million (NOK 
67.5 million), at an EBITDA margin of 
13.2 per cent (14.1 per cent). EBITDA in-
cluding non-recurring cost of NOK 14 
million related to the IPO and a termi-
nated recruitment incentive program 
was NOK 51.4 million (NOK 67.5 million), 
representing an EBITDA margin of 10.4 
per cent (14.1 per cent).

Webstep Norway had 342 employees 
at the end of 2017 (323 employees). The 
average number of employees through 
the year was 331 (329). Strong focus 
on recruitment has proven successful. 
A high number of new employees has 
been onboarded in the last quarter of 
2017, giving Webstep Norway a strong 
momentum entering 2018.

The order intake and backlog for Web-
step Norway is generally high, with par-
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ticularly high demand for the core digi-
talisation services.

Sweden
Webstep Sweden has offices in Stock-
holm and Malmö and serves more than 
50 clients in different industries, mainly 
in the private sector. Webstep Sweden 
delivers the same high-end IT consul-
tancy services as the Norwegian coun-
terpart, primarily within the Company’s 
core digitalisation offering. 

Total operating revenues for 2017 
came to NOK 101.3 million (NOK 84.0 
million), up 21 per cent from 2016. The 
strong growth in 2017 is mainly a con-
sequence of strong utilisation and cli-
ent development, utilising subcontrac-
tors to build new client relations.

EBITDA year to date came to NOK 5.7 
million (NOK 5.3 million), and the EBITDA 
margin was 5.6 per cent (6.2 per cent). 
The slightly weaker margin level in Swe-
den reflects the strategic use of subcon-
tractors, which has enabled Webstep to 
increase revenue growth in Sweden and 
to build new client relationships. This 
alongside strong focus on recruitment 
sets a good basis for future growth in 
the Swedish market.

Webstep Sweden had 60 employees 
at the end of 2017 (61 employees). The 
average number of employees through 
2017 was 63 (65).

The order intake and backlog for Web-
step Sweden continues to be strong.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT 
The Group currently has one strate-
gic R&D initiative; Webstep Internet of 
Things (IoT). The target of the Webstep 
IoT project is to position Webstep in the 
Nordic IoT software space, leveraging 
the high-end software competence of 
the Company. This is done by pursuing 
IoT opportunities through high-end ad-
visory services, initiating and develop-
ing IoT software concepts with clients 
as well as establishing strategic part-
nerships with IoT hardware vendors. 
The project is approved by the Research 
Council of Norway (Forskningsrådet) 
to qualify for SkatteFUNN (government 
R&D tax incentive scheme).

The Group’s investment in R&D pro-
jects in 2017 totalled NOK 3.6 million 
(NOK 1.2 million) which is recognised as 
an intangible asset. The recognition as 
an asset is based on the management's 
assessment of future economic benefits 
from the projects and that the criteria in 
IAS 38.57 is met. 

RISK AND RISK MANAGEMENT 
The Group is exposed to various risks 
and uncertainties of operational, market 
and financial character. The Company 
identifies and manages risks on an ongo-

ing basis. The risk factors described be-
low have been identified as key risks by 
the management and is not exhaustive.

Market
The Group's results are affected by mac-
roeconomic development and demand 
of its services. The large diversity of 
customers combined with various pro-
ject in different sectors and geographic 
areas, means that the Group’s market 
risks are limited.

Legal liability
The risk of disagreements and legal dis-
putes related to projects is present in 
the consultancy business. A majority of 
the Group’s assignment are based on 
standardized agreements with “Time & 
Material” pricing and monthly invoicing, 
which implies limited risk per contract. 

If the consultant is gross negligence or 
wilful misconduct, the Company may be li-
able to damages. In order to reduce these 
risks, according to market practice, the 
Company has insurance coverage for pro-
fessional liability, occupational injury, gen-
eral liability and employee dishonesty. 

The Group has in the past been and 
may in the future be subject to legal 
claims, including those arising in the nor-
mal course of business. Contracts con-
tain penalty clauses for the Group's failure 
to timely deliver or failure to meet agreed 

The order intake and 
backlog for Webstep 
Norway is generally 
high, with particularly 
high demand for the 
core digitalisation 
services.
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service levels and the Group may face 
claims as a result of breach of contract.

An unfavourable outcome on any lit-
igation or arbitration matter could re-
quire that the Group pays substantial 
damages, prevent the Group from sell-
ing certain of its products or services, 
or in connection with any intellectual 
property infringement claims, require 
that the Group pays ongoing royalty 
payments. 

A settlement or an unfavourable out-
come on any litigation or arbitration mat-
ter could have an adverse effect on the 
Group's operating revenue and profita-
bility. 

Laws and regulations could hinder or 
delay the Group's operations, increase 
the Group's operating costs and reduce 
demand for its services. Changes in 
laws and regulations applicable to the 
Group could increase compliance costs, 
mandate significant and costly changes 
to the way the Group implements its ser-
vices and solutions, and threaten the 
Group's ability to continue to serve cer-
tain markets. The implementation of 
new data privacy protection laws in Nor-
way from May 2018 may incur additional 
compliance or other costs which could 
have a material adverse effect on the 
Group's operating revenue and profita-
bility.

Credit risk
The risk that counterparties will not 
fulfill their obligations is considered to 
be low. The Group engage with large 
and regular customers and has had low 
historical losses on receivables. Web-
step closely follows both its custom-
ers’ ability to pay and any risks noted in 
the general development of the credit 
market.

Currency risk
Webstep operates in Norway and Swe-
den and any fluctuations in exchange 
rates between NOK and SEK could ma-
terially and adversely affect the Group's 
business, results of operations, cash 
flows, financial condition and/or pros-
pects. Currently, the Group does not 
have any hedging positions in place to 
limit the exposure to exchange rate fluc-
tuations.

Currency risk refers to the expo-
sure through operations across differ-
ent countries, in regard to unpredictable 
gains or losses due to changes in the 
value of one currency in relation to an-
other currency. The Group has assessed 
the currency risk to be limited, since the 
Group entities endeavour to match in-
come and expenses as well as assets 
and liabilities in the same currency.

Interest-rate risk
The Group has incurred, and may in the 
future incur, significant amounts of debt. 
The Group is exposed to interest rate 
risk primarily in relation to its revolving 
credit facility, issued at floating interest 
rates. If the Group were to hedge some 
or all of its interest rate exposure, there 
can be no assurance that such hedging 
arrangements will be effective. As such, 
movements in interest rates could ma-
terially and adversely affect the Group's 
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business, results of operations, cash 
flows, financial condition and/or pros-
pects. 

The Group is exposed to interest rate 
risk through its revolving credit facility, 
where interest terms are based on NI-
BOR (Norwegian Interbank Offer Rate). 
The Group evaluates this risk to be min-
imal due to the stable financial situa-
tion in Norway, combined with low net 
debt and strong financial position for the 
Group.

Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is that the Group will not 
be able to meet its financial obligations 
as they fall due. The Group’s approach 
to manage liquidity is to ensure, as far 
as possible, that it will always have suffi-
cient liquidity to meet its liabilities when 
due, under both normal and stressed 
conditions, without incurring unaccept-
able losses or risking damage to the 
Group’s reputation. Executive manage-
ment has evaluated that the Group has 
good liquidity. 

Employees and personnel expenses
Webstep’s most important asset is its 
employees. In order to ensure stable 
growth, Webstep is dependent of be-
ing an attractive employer to retain and 
attract new employees. The Group’s 
strategy is to continuously invest in new 

technological trends and services, pro-
vide interesting and challenging assign-
ments, combined with attractive remu-
neration and benefits. The salary of the 
employees is mostly variable and is 
closely linked to the consultants indi-
vidual performance, hence the person-
nel expenses will track the Company's 
earnings.

GOING CONCERN 
The annual accounts have been pre-
pared on a going concern assumption. 
The board has confirmed that this as-
sumption can be made on the basis of 
the Group’s budgets and long-term fore-
casts.

PARENT COMPANY RESULTS AND 
ALLOCATION OF NET PROFIT 
The annual financial statements for the 
parent company are prepared in accord-
ance with the Norwegian Accounting 
Act and the regulations on simplified 
application of international accounting 
standards (IFRS)

The parent company’s profit before 
income taxes came to NOK 21.7 million 
(NOK 57.4 million), while net profit was 
NOK 19.9 million (NOK 42.4 million). The 
overall decline in profit before taxes, re-
lates to non-recurring IPO costs and re-
duction in group contribution NOK 46.9 
million (NOK 77.2 million).

– The salary of the employees 
is mostly variable and is closely 
linked to the consultants 
individual performance.
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The board proposes the following al-
location of the net profit of NOK 19.9 mil-
lion for the parent company:

NOK million
Transferred from other equity 19.6
Dividends proposed 39.5

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
Good corporate governance provides the 
foundation for long-term value creation, 
to the benefit of shareholders, employees 
and other stakeholders. The board of di-
rectors of Webstep has established a set 
of governance principles in order to en-
sure a clear division of roles between the 
board of directors, the executive manage-
ment and the shareholders. The princi-
ples are based on the Norwegian Code of 
Practice for Corporate Governance. 

Webstep is subject to annual corpo-
rate governance reporting requirements 
under section 3-3b of the Norwegian Ac-
counting Act and the Norwegian Code of 
Practice for Corporate Governance, cf. 
section 7 on the continuing obligations 
of stock exchange listed companies. 
The Accounting Act may be found (in 
Norwegian) at www.lovdata.no. The Nor-
wegian Code of Practice for Corporate 
Governance, which was last revised on 
30 October 2014, may be found at www.
nues.no. 

The annual statement on corporate 
governance for 2017 has been approved 
by the board and can be found on page 
51 in this annual report.

CORPORATE SOCIAL 
RESPONSIBILITY 
Webstep is subject to corporate respon-
sibility (CR) reporting requirements un-
der section 3-3c of the Norwegian Ac-
counting Act.

Webstep aims to create value for 
customers, shareholders, employees 
and the society at large. The Group de-
velops and delivers services to public 
and private organizations and contrib-
ute to solving critical community tasks 
within health, transportation, customs, 
accounting, electrical power, pension 
and retirement, and justice administra-
tion. Webstep covers most industries 
and provides expertise and great ca-
pability to key players in for instance 
the food industry, banking and finan-
cial institutions, oil and offshore oper-
ations, power and energy, and to tele-
com and organizations in the software 
industry.

The Group’s license to operate rests 
on the confidence from these key stake-
holders. This drives Webstep’s commit-
ment to operate the business in accord-
ance with responsible, ethical and sound 
corporate and business principles.

Work agreements and internal 
guidelines
Webstep has established work agree-
ments and internal guidelines in place 
that emphasize ethical behavior, strong 
data security, and encourage excellent 
financial and practical business prac-
tices. All employees are required to com-
ply with the Company’s policy for anti 
corruption and data security. Both of 
these topics are essential to build strong 
relationship with clients, suppliers and 
partners.

Work environment and employees’ 
rights, terms and benefits
Webstep gives weight to caring about 
the work environment and the employ-
ees’ rights, terms and benefits, as well 
as their opportunities for personal devel-
opment on and off work. This is based 
on the idea that employees thrive in an 
environment built on trust, with the op-
portunity to make a difference, and free-
dom to take responsibility and make ma-
ture decisions in the best interest of one-
self and the organization.

CR is implemented in the value set of 
the organisation and especially chan-
nelled through developing, using, and 
sharing knowledge within the Company, 
in work relations at customers’ prem-
ises and in the professional communi-
ties, through volunteerism. The latter se-

The Group’s license 
to operate rests  
on the confidence 
from these key 
stakeholders. 
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cure the spreading of knowledge, through 
meetups and volunteer organisations, be-
tween Webstep employees and managers 
to professionals in other companies, pub-
lic institutions and the general society. 

Webstep’s local businesses are 
closely connected to their local environ-
ments respectively. Initiatives like spon-
sorships and ad hoc tech and advisory 
help to organisations are common in all 
branch offices. 

HEALTH, SAFETY AND THE 
ENVIRONMENT (HSE)
Sickness absence, incidents and injuries
Webstep works systematically with HSE 
management and makes concerted ef-
forts to mitigate health risks and prevent 
injuries.

The working environment in the Com-
pany is considered to be good. No acci-
dents or injuries were registered in 2017.

Sick leave in the Group was 2.5 per 
cent in 2017, down from 2.6 per cent in 
2016. 

Webstep has an HSE whistleblower 
IT system, allowing the employees to 
anonymously submit warnings in what-
ever relevant area for the employees. No 
warnings have been submitted in 2017. 

Company culture and health
Since 2008 Webstep has participated 
in the annual Great Place to Work® 

(GPTW) screening and award in Nor-
way. Further, Webstep entered GPTW 
in Sweden in 2015/2016. GPTW is a re-
nown global institution for building, 
sustaining and recognizing high-trust, 
high-performing workplace cultures. 
The methods are built on common 
practice among successful leaders, sur-
veying millions of employees, and ex-
amining thousands of the best work-
places around the globe.

The GPTW screening measures em-
ployees’ trust in the people they work for, 
assessed through employee perceptions 
of credibility, respect, fairness, integrity 
and related topics. The results of the an-
nual screening is analyzed thoroughly 
and measures are taken to improve com-
pany practices when needed.

As a result of the strong focus on 
the employees' professional develop-
ment and well-being, Webstep has been 
recognised as one of "Norwegian Best 
Workplaces" by GPTW ten years in a 
row. Additionally, Webstep is the only 
company to have ranked number one in 
three different size categories, as well as 
three years in a row.

Environment and society
Webstep has a vision of zero harm to 
people, the environment and society. 
The Group makes systematic efforts to 
reduce the environmental impact of its 

business. The Group's services shall al-
ways be subject to strict requirements 
in terms of quality, safety and impacts 
on personal health and the environment 
The Group strives not to pollute the ex-
ternal environment. All distribution activ-
ities are outsourced. 

EMPLOYEES, ORGANISATION AND 
EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES 
The number of employees in the Web-
step Group has increased steadily over 
the years. As of 31 December 2017 the 
Group employed a total of 402 persons.

Employees and expertise
As part of its business strategy, the 
Group only hires experienced IT consult-
ants. At year end, the consultants have 
on average more than ten years of expe-
rience, where approximately 30 per cent 
of the employees have above 15 years 
of experience. The employees are highly 
skilled and an increasing portion of the 
Group's consultants have PhD degrees. 
The majority of the IT consultants hold 
a Master's degree in computer engineer-
ing or similar.

The Group endeavours to assign its 
consultants interesting and challenging 
projects that ensure personal develop-
ment and contentment. By constantly 
developing the consultants' skill sets, 
the Group's services as such are also 

An increasing 
portion of the 
Group's consultants 
have PhD degrees. 
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improved. Further, the Group's incentive 
model for consultants is designed to at-
tract and motivate highly experienced 
experts. Whereas the Group's manage-
ment and sales personnel receive fixed 
salaries and may be entitled to other 
variable pay, the salary model for the 
Group’s consultants is based on revenue 
sharing. The salary model for consult-
ants has been a pillar in the Company 
ever since inception in 2000.

The above-mentioned incentive 
model is designed to directly incentiv-
ise the Group's consultants to deliver 
high-end services to the Group's cli-
ents, while at the same time provide 
the consultants with a high degree of 
personal freedom, attractive compen-
sation and, if desirable, certain down-
side protection. The model is also de-
signed to inspire the consultants to be 
entrepreneurial due to the close link be-
tween salary and effort. In the Compa-
ny's view, the Group's incentive model 
is particularly attractive for highly expe-
rienced IT consultants, and the model 
is hence instrumental in the Group's 
strategy of attracting such consultants. 
Further, the incentive model makes the 
Group less vulnerable to price fluctu-
ations and macro-economic changes 
due to the large degree of proportional-
ity between costs and revenues related 
to the Group's consultants. 

Recruitment position
The Group's success is dependent on 
the performance of its employees and 
the Group's ability to attract the very 
best candidates and to train and further 
develop such IT professionals. 

Employee share purchase programme
In connection with the IPO, the Com-
pany implemented a share program for 
the Group’s employees. The program 
allowed participants who purchased 
shares in the employee offering (“Sav-
ing Shares”) in the IPO to receive shares 
(“Matching Shares”) free of charge af-
ter a vesting period of two years, pro-
vided that they remain employed by the 
Group and retain all the purchased Sav-
ing Shares throughout the said vesting 
period. 

Working environment 
The board considers the working envi-
ronment to be good and the collabora-
tive relationship with employee repre-
sentatives is perceived as positive.

Equal opportunities
The purpose of Norway’s Anti-Discrim-
ination Act is to promote equal oppor-
tunities and rights, and to prohibit dis-
crimination on the grounds of ethnic-
ity, skin colour, language, religion and 
beliefs.

PAGE  19
Webstep ASA annual report 2017
BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ REPORT



12 per cent of the Group’s 402 em-
ployees at 31 December were female 
and 88 percent were male. The Group’s 
executive management comprised two 
men. The parent company board at 31 
December consisted of two female and 
three male directors.

The IT business is characterized by 
a high share of male employees. Web-
step works actively to attract female em-
ployees and moving towards gender bal-
ance. As the Webstep profile do not have 
any gender bias and should attract men 
and female alike, a project was estab-
lished in 2017 to raise the percentage of 
women. Through this effort 11 women 
were recruited. Other measures taken 
is establishing Webstep as a member 
of the national ODA Female Network 
for women in the IT industry, as well as 
sponsoring and assisting in establishing 
the “She Says” tech women network in 
Stavanger. 

Webstep aims to be a workplace with 
no disability discrimination. Efforts are 
made to design and arrange the Group’s 
premises so all functions can be car-
ried out regardless of disabilities. Work 
space and job responsibilities are tai-
lored for employees or job applicants 
with disabilities.

Approximately 5 per cent of employ-
ees in the Group had a mother tongue 
other than Norwegian at 31 December.

The Company does not discriminate 
on the grounds of gender, disability, eth-
nicity, religion or the like. The board and 
the executive management are con-
scious of this in recruitment, appoint-
ment, pay and customisation of working 
conditions, and in work on developing 
attitudes.

Changes to the executive management 
and board of directors 
In connection with the IPO and the list-
ing of Webstep on Oslo Stock Exchange 
in 2017, the Group’s parent company Az-
ure Holding AS changed name to Web-
step ASA and was converted to a pub-
lic limited company (“Allmennaksjesel-
skap”). A new board of directors was 
established. Klaus-Anders Nysteen was 
elected as chair of the board, along 

– Webstep works 
actively to attract 
female employees and 
moving towards gender 
balance.
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with board members Siw Ødegaard, To-
ril Nag, Bjørn Ivar Danielsen and Terje 
Bakken. The latter two were re-elected 
from the preceding board of directors.

SHARE AND SHAREHOLDER 
MATTERS 
Webstep completed a successful Ini-
tial Public Offering (IPO), followed by a 
public listing of the Company's shares 
on Oslo Stock Exchange on 11 Octo-
ber 2017. Webstep has only one share 
class, where all shares have equal 
rights in the Company. The shares are 
traded under the ticker symbol WSTEP 
and had a closing price on 29 Decem-
ber 2017 of NOK 26.00. 

Gross proceeds of NOK 138 million 
were raised through the IPO. Net pro-
ceeds of NOK 123 million were used 
to repay long term debt and hence 
strengthen the financial position of the 
Company. The IPO included an em-
ployee offering, in which Webstep’s em-
ployees were offered shares. The em-
ployee offering was very successful, 
with approximately 57 per cent of the 
employees subscribing for shares.

A total of 5.7 million new shares 
were issued in the IPO. The total num-
ber of outstanding shares at 31 Decem-
ber 2017 was 26.4 million (excl. treasury 
shares). The shares are registered in the 
Norwegian Central Securities Depository 

(VPS). The Company's registrar is SR-
Bank ASA. The shares carry the securi-
ties number ISIN NO 0010609662.

Dividends 
Webstep has an ambition to create long 
term shareholder value in the form of 
dividend payments and share price ap-
preciation over time. Dividend payments 
will be considered in light of the Compa-
ny's financial situation and investment 
plans. The Company's objective is to pay 
annual dividends representing minimum 
75 per cent of the Company's net profit.

In deciding whether to propose a div-
idend and in determining the dividend 
amount, the board of directors will take 
into account legal restrictions, the Com-
pany's capital requirements, including 
capital expenditure requirements, its 
financial condition, general business 
conditions and any restrictions that its 
contractual arrangements in place at 
the time of the dividend resolution may 
place on its ability to pay dividends and 
the maintaining of appropriate financial 
flexibility. 

Except in certain specific and limited 
circumstances set out in the Norwe-
gian Public Limited Companies Act, the 
amount of dividends paid may not ex-
ceed the amount recommended by the 
board of directors.

For 2017, the board will propose a div-

idend of NOK 1.50 per share for approval 
by the Annual General Meeting on 24. 
April 2018. The proposed dividend repre-
sents in total 117 per cent of the annual 
net profit and is in the upper range of the 
dividend policy. 

Employee share program
In connection with the IPO, the Com-
pany implemented a share program for 
the Group’s employees. The program 
allowed participants who purchased 
shares in the employee offering (“Sav-
ing Shares”) in the IPO to receive shares 
(“Matching Shares”) free of charge after 
a vesting period of two years, provided 
that they remain employed by the Group 
and retain all the purchased Saving 
Shares throughout the said vesting pe-
riod. The potential dilution through this 
program accounts for approximately 
107 000 shares.

OUTLOOK 
These forward looking statements re-
flect current views about future events 
and are, by their nature, subject to sig-
nificant risks and uncertainties because 
they relate to events and depend on cir-
cumstances in the future.

The overall market outlook is robust, 
following the general trend with high in-
vestment activity in digitalisation of pri-
vate and public sector. This is expected 

The Company’s 
objective is to pay 
annual dividends 
representing 
minimum 75 per cent 
of the Company's net 
profit.
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to drive continued high demand for Web-
step’s overall offering of IT expertise. 
A very strong order book entering 2018 
confirms these substantial trends.

The high demand for the Group’s core 
services (defined as digitisation, cloud 
and integration) is expected to con-
tinue. Cloud services show positive de-
velopment and represent further poten-
tial. Webstep has taken a high-end po-
sition as strategic advisor and designer 
of Cloud strategies for clients. In 2017, 

there has been a significant increase in 
the number of customers running com-
prehensive cloud adoption programs.

Cloud is also the main prerequisite for 
the use of data for IoT, Machine Learning 
and Analytics, all expected to become 
important growth areas, though still in 
an early phase. Investments in expertise 
and capacity in these services is there-
fore still highly prioritized, knowing that 
sales processes for new services gener-
ally take longer time. Lower utilisation of 

these experts should still be expected in 
a short-term perspective.

Webstep has a strong focus on re-
cruitment of experienced experts and 
employer branding going forward, to se-
cure future growth capacity.

The over-all ambition remains un-
changed; profitable growth above mar-
ket and maintaining EBITDA margin lev-
els above the average market level, as 
demonstrated over the last years.

Oslo, 21 March 2018

The board of directors and CEO
Webstep ASA

Klaus-Anders Nysteen Siw Ødegaard Terje Bakken
Chair of the board Board member Board member

Toril Nag Bjørn Ivar Danielsen Kjetil Bakke Eriksen
Board member Board member CEO
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

NOK 1 000 Note 2017 2016

Sales Revenues 5  596 519  562 515 
Total revenues  596 519  562 515 

Cost of goods and services (COGS) (49 333) (33 836)
Salaries and personnel expenses 6, 7, 21 (448 395) (417 897)
Depreciation and impairment 10, 11 (8 156) (10 563)
Other operating expenses 6, 21, 23 (41 705) (38 063)
Total operating expenses (547 590) (500 359)
Operating profit (loss)  48 929  62 156 

Finance income 8  3 698  1 716 
Finance expense 8 (12 263) (9 319)
Profit before tax  40 364  54 553 

Income tax expense 9 (6 514) (14 033)
Profit for the year  33 851  40 519 

Other comprehensive income that will be reclassified to the income statement
Foreign currency translation: 
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations  3 544 (6 438)
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  3 544 (6 438)
Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  37 395  34 082 

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent  37 395  34 082 
Non-controlling interest  -  - 

Earnings per share 1.55 2.02
Earnings per share, fully diluted 1.55 2.02
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

NOK 1 000 Note 2017 2016

Non-current assets
Intangible assets 10  387 082  384 970 
Fixed assets 11  5 228  2 738 
Non-current financial assets 12  -  2 693 
Deferred tax asset 9  232  320 
Total non-current assets  392 542  390 720 

Current assets
Trade receivables 13  125 545  82 610 
Other receivables 13  3 585  4 139 
Cash and short-term deposits 13, 14  6 580  80 311 
Total current assets  135 710  167 060 
Total assets  528 252  557 781 

NOK 1 000 Note 2017 2016

Equity
Share capital 15  26 967  21 256 
Treasury shares 15 (610) (610)
Share premium  149 827  32 109 
Retained earnings  181 554  144 164 
Total equity  357 738  196 918 

Non-current liabilities
Debt to credit instututions 16  -  161 250 
Deferred tax 9  1 616  3 596 
Total non-current liabilities  1 616  164 846 

Current liabilities
Debt to credit institutions 14, 16  24 287  59 983 
Trade and other payables 17  16 659  10 615 
Tax payables 9  7 293  15 689 
Social Taxes and VAT 17  49 255  48 895 
Other short-term debt 17, 18  71 404  60 833 
Total current liabilities  168 898  196 016 
Total liabilities  170 514  360 862 
Total equity and liabilities  528 252  557 781

Oslo, 21 March 2018

The board of directors and CEO
Webstep ASA

Klaus-Anders Nysteen Siw Ødegaard Terje Bakken Toril Nag Bjørn Ivar Danielsen Kjetil Bakke Eriksen
Chair of the board Board member Board member Board member Board member CEO
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

NOK 1 000 Note 2017 2016

Operating activities
Profit/ (loss) before tax  40 364  54 553 
Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 10, 11  8 156  10 563 
Net change in trade and other receivables 13 (40 939) (2 732)
Net change in other liabilities 17, 18  16 975  2 652 
Net foreign exchange differences  693  604 
Income tax expense 9 (17 206) (15 167)
Net cash flow from operating activities  8 044  50 473 

Investing activities
Payments for R&D-initiatives 10 (3 561)  - 
Purchase of property and equipment 11 (4 456) (1 730)
Net cash flow from financing activities (8 017) (1 730)

Financing activities
Proceeds from borrowings  -  200 000 
Repayment of borrowings 16 (192 500) (62 384)
Change in bank overdraft 16 (4 446)  - 
Net proceeds from equity  123 189  - 
Purchase of treasury shares  - (130)
Payment of dividends  - (173 679)
Net cash flow from financing activities (73 758) (36 193)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (73 731)  12 550 
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January  80 311  67 761 
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December  6 580  80 311 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

NOK 1 000
Issued 
capital

Treasury 
shares

Share 
premium

Foreign 
currency

translation 
reserve

Retained 
earnings

Total 
attributable 

to equity 
holders parent

Non- 
controlling 

interests
Total 

equity

At 1 January 2016  20 126 (604)  181 031  15 285  110 215  326 053  10 592  336 645 
Profit for the period  -  -  -  -  40 519  40 519  -  40 519 
Other comprehensive income/(loss)  -  -  - (6 438)  - (6 438)  - (6 438)
Net purchase of treasury shares  - (6)  -  -  279  273 (1 001) (728)
Restructuring of sub-group  1 130  -  21 078  - (12 617)  9 591 (9 591)  - 
Dividends to NCI  -  -  -  - (3 080) (3 080)  - (3 080)
Dividends  -  - (170 000)  -  - (170 000)  - (170 000)
At 31 December 2016  21 256 (610)  32 109  8 847  135 316  196 918  -  196 918 

Profit for the period  -  -  -  -  33 851  33 851  -  33 851 
Other comprehensive income/(loss)  -  -  -  3 544  -  3 544  -  3 544 
Shares issued  5 711  -  117 477  -  -  123 188  -  123 188 
Share incentive program  -  -  237  -  -  237  -  237 
At 31 December 2017  26 967 (610)  149 823  12 391  169 166  357 737  -  357 737 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 01: �GENERAL INFORMATION

THE COMPANY AND THE GROUP
Webstep ASA, the parent company of 
the Webstep Group (the Group) is a pub-
lic limited company incorporated and 
domiciled in Norway, with its head office 
in Lilleakerveien 8, 0283 Oslo, Norway. 

The Company and its subsidiaries (to-
gether the Webstep Group/the Group) 
are leading providers of IT expert con-
sultants in Norway and Sweden. The 
Group aims to be at the forefront of the 
technological development and to as-
sist its customers in their digitalisation 

through the offering of cutting-edge IT 
expertise. The Group’s core digitalisa-
tion offerings are digitisation, cloud mi-
gration and integration, in addition to 
its other core focus areas Internet of 
Things (IoT), machine learning and ana-
lytics.

These consolidated financial state-
ments have been approved for issuance 
by the board of directors on 21 March 
2018 and is subject to approval by the 
Annual General Meeting on 24 April 
2018.

Note 02: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES 

BASIS FOR PREPARATION
The financial statements are presented 
in NOK, rounded to the nearest thou-
sand, unless otherwise stated. As a re-
sult of rounding adjustments, the figures 
in one or more rows or columns included 
in the financial statements and notes 
may not add up to the total of that row or 
column.

Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements 
at 31 December 2017 for Webstep ASA 
is presented in accordance with the In-
ternational Financial Reporting Stand-

ards (IFRS) as adopted by the European 
Union. 

The consolidated financial state-
ments for the year ended 31 December 
2017 were authorised for issue by the 
board of directors on 21 March 2018.

The consolidated financial state-
ments are presented in Norwegian kro-
ner (NOK) and all values are rounded to 
the nearest thousand (NOK 1 000’s), ex-
cept when otherwise indicated.

The format for presenting the income 
statement is based on the nature of the 
expenditure.

Going concern
The Group has adopted the going con-
cern basis in preparing its consolidated 
financial statements. When assessing 
this assumption, management has as-
sessed all available information about 
the future. This comprise information 
about net cash flows from existing con-
tracts and debt service obligations. 
Forecasts take into consideration ex-
pected future net income. Management 
has a reasonable expectation that the 
Group has adequate resources to con-
tinue its operational existence for the 
foreseeable future. 

Basis of measurement 
The consolidated financial statements 
have been prepared under the historical 
cost convention.

The preparation of financial state-
ments in conformity with IFRS requires 
the use of certain critical accounting es-
timates.

It also requires management to exer-
cise its judgement in the process of ap-
plying the Group's accounting policies. 
The areas involving higher degree of 
judgement or complexity, or areas where 
the assumptions and estimates are sig-
nificant to the consolidated financial 
statements are disclosed in note 3. 

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements 
comprise the financial statements of 

the Group and its subsidiaries as at 31 
December 2017. Control is achieved 
when the Group is exposed, or has 
rights, to variable returns from its in-
volvement with the investee and has the 
ability to affect those returns through 
its power over the investee. The Group 
re-assesses whether or not it controls 
an investee if facts and circumstances 
indicate that there are changes to one 
or more of the three elements of con-
trol. Consolidation of a subsidiary be-
gins when the Group obtains control 
over the subsidiary and ceases when 
the Group loses control of the subsid-
iary. Assets, liabilities, income and ex-
penses of a subsidiary acquired or dis-
posed of during the year are included in 
the consolidated financial statements 
from the date the Group gains control 
until the date the Group ceases to con-
trol the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component 
of OCI are attributed to the equity hold-
ers of the parent of the Group and to the 
non-controlling interests, even if this re-
sults in the non-controlling interests hav-
ing a deficit balance. When necessary, ad-
justments are made to the financial state-
ments of subsidiaries to bring their ac-
counting policies into line with the Group’s 
accounting policies. All intra-group assets 
and liabilities, equity, income, expenses 
and cash flows relating to transactions 
between members of the Group are elimi-
nated in full on consolidation.
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A change in the ownership interest of 
a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is 
accounted for as an equity transaction. 
If the Group loses control over a subsid-
iary, it derecognises the related assets 
(including goodwill), liabilities, non-con-
trolling interest and other components of 
equity, while any resultant gain or loss is 
recognised in profit or loss. Any invest-
ment retained is recognised at fair value.

New standards, amendments and in-
terpretations issued but not effective for 
the financial year beginning January 1, 
2017 and not early adopted by the Group 
– only those relevant for the Group is in-
cluded:

IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments
In July 2014, the International Account-
ing Standards Board issued the final ver-
sion of IFRS 9, which was approved by 
the EU in November 2016. The effective 
date for IFRS 9 is annual periods begin-
ning on or after January 1, 2018, with 
early adoption permitted. The Group 
would implement the standard with ef-
fect January 1, 2018.

The standard replaces the parts of 
IAS 39 relating to the classification and 
measurement of financial instruments. 
IFRS 9 contains three classification cate-
gories for financial assets; (i) measured 
at amortised cost, (ii) fair value through 
other comprehensive income and (iii) 
fair value through profit or loss. Thus, 
the standard eliminates the existing IAS 

39 categories of held to maturity, loans 
and receivables and available for sale. 
The Group is yet to assess the full im-
pact of IFRS 9, but it is not expected to 
have a material impact on the financial 
statements.

IFRS 15 – Revenue from contracts with 
customers
IFRS 15 replaces IAS 18 and IAS 11, and 
establishes principles for reporting in-
formation to users of financial state-
ments about the nature, amount, timing 
and uncertainty of revenue and cash 
flows arising from an entity's contract 
with a customer. The standard is based 
on the principle that revenue is recog-
nised when control of a good or a ser-
vice is transferred to a customer. In that 
way, the notion of control replaces the 
existing notion of risks and rewards. 
Revenue is recognised when a cus-
tomer obtains control of a good or ser-
vice and thus has the ability to direct 
the use and obtain benefits from the 
good or service.

The standard was endorsed by the EU 
in October 2016 and is effective from 1 
January 2018. The standard would be im-
plemented with effect of January 1 2018. 

Management has analysed potential 
effects of implementation of new stand-
ard with the conclusion of no material 
impact in the revenue accounting pro-
cess but it would increase the disclosure 
requirements.

IFRS 16 – Leasing
IFRS 16 Leases was issued in January 
2016 and it replaces IAS 17 Leases from 
January 1, 2019.

Lessor accounting under IFRS 16 is 
substantially unchanged from today’s 
accounting under IAS 17. Lessors will 
continue to classify all leases using the 
same classification principle as in IAS 
17 and distinguish between two types of 
leases: operating and finance leases.

The standard would be implemented 
with effect of January 1 2019. 

Management has analysed potential 
effects of implementation of new stand-
ard with the conclusion of no material 
impact in the leasing accounting pro-
cess, however it will increase the disclo-
sure requirements.

Foreign currency translation
The Group’s consolidated financial state-
ments are presented in Norwegian kroner 
(NOK), which is also the parent compa-
ny’s functional currency. For each entity, 
the Group determines the functional cur-
rency and items included in the financial 
statements of each entity are measured 
using that functional currency.

Transactions in foreign currencies are 
initially recorded by the Group’s entities 
at their respective functional currency 
spot rates at the date the transaction 
first qualifies for recognition.

Receivables, debt and other monetary 
items denominated in foreign currencies 

are translated using the exchange rate at 
the balance sheet date. Differences be-
tween the exchange rate at the balance 
sheet date and the date on which the re-
ceivable or debt arose, or was included in 
the latest balance sheet, are recognised 
in the income statement and presented 
as financial income and expenses.

Differences in exchange rates arising 
from the translation of foreign subsidiar-
ies’ equity at the beginning of the year at 
the exchange rates at the balance sheet 
date and from the translation of income 
statements from the monthly, aver-
age exchange rates for the currency ex-
change rates at the balance sheet date 
are recognised directly in other compre-
hensive income.

Segment reporting 
Operating segments are reported by 
country of operation, which currently is 
Norway and Sweden. The board of Web-
step ASA has appointed a strategic steer-
ing committee which assesses the fi-
nancial performance and position of the 
Group, and makes strategic decisions. 
The steering committee, which has been 
identified as being the chief operating de-
cision maker, consists of the chief execu-
tive officer and the chief financial officer.

Revenue recognition
Revenue from services is recognised 
when the hours are delivered. When the 
contract outcome cannot be measured 
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reliably, revenue is recognised only to 
the extent that the expenses incurred 
are eligible to be recovered. 

Revenue is measured at the fair value 
of the consideration received or receiv-
able. Amounts disclosed as revenue 
are net of returns, trade allowances and 
amounts collected on behalf of third 
parties. The Group recognises revenue 
when the amount of revenue can be reli-
ably measured, it is probable that future 
economic benefits will flow to the entity 
and specific criteria have been met for 
each of the Group’s activities. The Group 
bases its estimates on historical re-
sults, taking into consideration the type 
of customer, the type of transaction and 
the specifics of each arrangement. 

Salaries and personnel expenses
Salaries and personnel expenses include 
salaries and wages, as well as social 
benefits, pensions, etc. for the Group’s 
employees.

Other operating expenses
Other operating expenses include ex-
penditure for sales, marketing, advertis-
ing, IT, administration, facilities, etc. 

Finance income and expense
“Finance income” and “Finance ex-
pense” respectively, include interest, 
capital gains and losses concerning se-
curities, debt and exchange differences 
on transactions in foreign currency.

Income tax 
The income tax expense or credit for the 
period is the tax payable on the current 
period’s taxable income based on the 
applicable income tax rate for each juris-
diction adjusted by changes in deferred 
tax assets and liabilities attributable to 
temporary differences and to unused tax 
losses. 

The current income tax charge is cal-
culated on the basis of the tax laws en-
acted or substantively enacted at the 
end of the reporting period in Norway 
and Sweden where the Group operates 
and generates taxable income. Manage-
ment periodically evaluates positions 
taken in tax returns with respect to sit-
uations in which applicable tax regula-
tion is subject to interpretation. It es-
tablishes provisions where appropriate 
on the basis of amounts expected to be 
paid to the tax authorities. 

Deferred income tax is provided in full, 
using the liability method, on temporary 
differences arising between the tax bases 
of assets and liabilities and their carry-
ing amounts in the consolidated financial 
statements. However, deferred tax liabili-
ties are not recognised if they arise from 
the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred income tax is also not ac-
counted for if it arises from initial recog-
nition of an asset or liability in a transac-
tion other than a business combination 
that at the time of the transaction affects 
neither accounting nor taxable profit or 

loss. Deferred income tax is determined 
using tax rates (and laws) that have been 
enacted or substantially enacted by the 
end of the reporting period and are ex-
pected to apply when the related de-
ferred income tax asset is realised or the 
deferred income tax liability is settled. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised 
only if it is probable that future taxable 
amounts will be available to utilise those 
temporary differences and losses.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately 
are measured at initial recognition at 
cost. The cost of intangible assets ac-
quired in a business combination is their 
fair value at the date of acquisition. Fol-
lowing initial recognition, intangible as-
sets are carried at cost less any accu-
mulated amortisation and accumulated 
impairment losses.

Internally generated intangibles, ex-
cluding capitalised development costs, 
are not capitalised and the related ex-
penditure is reflected in profit or loss in 
the period in which the expenditure is 
incurred.

The useful lives of intangible assets 
are assessed as either finite or indef-
inite. Customer relationships are as-
sessed to have a finite useful life of 5 
years. 

Intangible assets with finite lives are 
amortised over the useful economic life 
and assessed for impairment whenever 

there is an indication that the intangible 
asset may be impaired. The amortisa-
tion period and the method are reviewed 
at least at the end of each reporting pe-
riod. Changes in the expected useful life 
or the expected pattern of consumption 
of future economic benefits are consid-
ered to modify the amortisation period or 
method, as appropriate, and are treated 
as changes in accounting estimates.

R&D
The Group currently has one main stra-
tegic R&D initiative; Webstep Internet of 
Things (IoT). The target of the Webstep 
IoT project is to position Webstep in the 
Nordic IoT software space, leveraging 
the high-end software competence of 
the Company. 

Research and development cost as-
sociated with this project is recognised 
as an asset. The estimated net present 
value of the project is calculated based 
on a DCF model and is exceeding the 
capitalised amount. The project is ap-
proved by the Research Council of Nor-
way (Forskningsrådet) to qualify for 
SkatteFUNN (government R&D tax in-
centive scheme). 

The criteria for recognising the initi-
ative as an asset is in accordance with 
the criteria in IAS 38.57.

Goodwill
Goodwill is initially measured at cost 
(being the excess of the aggregate of 
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the consideration transferred and the 
amount recognised for non-controlling 
interests and any previous interest held 
over the net identifiable assets acquired 
and liabilities assumed). If the fair value 
of the net assets acquired is in excess 
of the aggregate consideration trans-
ferred, the Group re-assesses whether 
it has correctly identified all of the as-
sets acquired and all of the liabilities 
assumed and reviews the procedures 
used to measure the amounts to be rec-
ognised at the acquisition date. If the 
reassessment still results in an excess 
of the fair value of net assets acquired 
over the aggregate consideration trans-
ferred, then the gain is recognised in 
profit or loss.

After initial recognition, goodwill is 
measured at cost less any accumulated 
impairment losses. For the purpose of 
impairment testing, goodwill acquired in 
a business combination is, from the ac-
quisition date, allocated to each of the 
Group’s cash-generating units that are 
expected to benefit from the combina-
tion, irrespective of whether other as-
sets or liabilities of the acquiree are as-
signed to those units.

Goodwill is tested for impairment an-
nually as at 31 December and when cir-
cumstances indicate that the carrying 
value may be impaired.

Impairment is determined for good-
will by assessing the recoverable 
amount of each CGU (or group of CGUs) 

to which the goodwill relates. The Group 
bases its impairment calculation on de-
tailed budgets and forecast calculations, 
which are prepared separately for each 
of the Group’s CGUs to which the indi-
vidual assets are allocated. These budg-
ets and forecast calculations generally 
cover a period of five years. A long-term 
growth rate is calculated and applied to 
project future cash flows after the fifth 
year. When the recoverable amount of 
the CGU is less than its carrying amount, 
an impairment loss is recognised. Im-
pairment losses relating to goodwill can-
not be reversed in future periods.

Financial assets – current vs non-
current
An asset is classified as current when it 
is expected to be realised or sold, or to 
be used in the Group's normal operat-
ing cycle, or falls due or is expected to 
be realised within 12 months after the 
end of the reporting period. Other assets 
are classified as non-current. Liabilities 
are classified as current when they are 
expected to be settled in the normal op-
erating cycle of the Group, are held for 
trading, are expected to be settled within 
12 months of the end of the reporting 
period, or if the Group does not have an 
unconditional right to postpone settle-
ment for at least 12 months after the re-
porting date. Provisions for obligations 
and other liabilities are classified as 
non-current.

Property, plant and equipment
Office machinery and operating equip-
ment are measured at cost less accu-
mulated depreciations. 

Where individual components of an 
item of property, plant and equipment 
have different useful lives, they are de-
preciated separately.

Depreciation is provided on a straight-
line basis over the expected useful lives 
of the assets/components. Depreciation 
is linear over the expected service lives 
of the assets based on the following as-
sessments of the expected service life 
of the assets:

■■ Office machinery 3-5 years 	
■■ Operating equipment 3-5 years 

Impairment of assets
The carrying amount of intangible as-
sets and property, plant and equipment 
alike is assessed annually for indica-
tions of impairment.

Should indications of impairment occur, 
each asset or group of assets, respectively, 
will be assessed in terms of impairment. 
Assets are written down to the recovera-
ble amount if this is lower than the carrying 
amount. The highest value of the net real-
isable value and the estimated value in use 
is used as the recoverable amount.

The value in use is calculated as the 
present value of the anticipated net in-
come from the use of the asset or group 
of assets.

Receivables
Receivables, which comprise receiva-
bles from sales, group companies and 
other receivables are non-derivative fi-
nancial assets with fixed or determina-
ble payments that are not quoted in an 
active market. 

Receivables are initially measured at 
fair value. 

After initial measurement, they are 
subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the EIR method, less impair-
ment. Amortised cost is calculated by 
taking into account any discount or pre-
mium on acquisition and fees or costs 
that are an integral part of the EIR. The 
EIR amortisation is included in finance 
income in the statement of profit or loss. 

The losses arising from impairment 
are recognised in the statement of profit 
or loss in finance costs for loans and 
in cost of sales or other operating ex-
penses for receivables.

Cash and short-term deposits
Cash and short-term deposits in the 
statement of financial position comprise 
cash at banks and at hand and short-
term deposits with a maturity of three 
months or less, which are subject to an 
insignificant risk of changes in value.

Treasury shares
Own equity instruments that are reac-
quired (treasury shares) are recognised 
at cost and deducted from equity.
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No gain or loss is recognised in profit 
or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or 
cancellation of the Group’s own equity 
instruments. Any difference between the 
carrying amount and the consideration, 
if reissued, is recognised in the share 
premium. 

Borrowings 
Borrowings are initially recognised at 
fair value, net of transaction costs in-
curred. Borrowings are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost. Any dif-
ference between the proceeds (net of 
transaction costs) and the redemption 
amount is recognised in profit or loss 
over the period of the borrowings us-
ing the effective interest method. Fees 
paid on the establishment of loan facili-
ties are recognised as transaction costs 
of the loan to the extent that it is prob-
able that some or all of the facility will 
be drawn down. In this case, the fee is 
deferred until the draw down occurs. To 
the extent there is no evidence that it is 
probable that some or all of the facility 
will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised 
as a prepayment for liquidity services 
and amortised over the period of the fa-
cility to which it relates. 

Borrowings are removed from the bal-
ance sheet when the obligation speci-
fied in the contract is discharged, can-
celled or expired. The difference be-
tween the carrying amount of a financial 
liability that has been extinguished or 

transferred to another party and the con-
sideration paid, including any noncash 
assets transferred or liabilities assumed, 
is recognised in profit or loss as other in-
come or finance costs.

Borrowings are classified as current 
liabilities unless the Group has an un-
conditional right to defer settlement of 
the liability for at least 12 months after 
the reporting period. 

Borrowing costs 
General and specific borrowing costs 
that are directly attributable to the ac-
quisition, construction or production of 
a qualifying asset are capitalised dur-
ing the period of time that is required to 
complete and prepare the asset for its 
intended use or sale. Qualifying assets 
are assets that necessarily take a sub-
stantial period of time to get ready for 
their intended use or sale. Investment 
income earned on the temporary invest-
ment of specific borrowings pending 
their expenditure on qualifying assets is 
deducted from the borrowing costs el-
igible for capitalisation. Other borrow-
ing costs are expensed in the period in 
which they are incurred. 

Fair value measurement
The Group measures financial instru-
ments at fair value at each balance 
sheet date. Fair-value related disclo-
sures for financial instruments and 
non-financial assets that are measured 

at fair value or where fair values are dis-
closed, are summarised in the following 
note 13. 

Fair value is the price that would be 
received to sell an asset or paid to trans-
fer a liability in an orderly transaction be-
tween market participants at the meas-
urement date. The fair value measure-
ment is based on the presumption that 
the transaction to sell the asset or trans-
fer the liability takes place either in the 
principal market or, if not available, in the 
most advantageous market. 

The principal or the most advanta-
geous market must be accessible by the 
Group. 

The fair value of an asset or a liabil-
ity is measured using the assumptions 
that market participants would use when 
pricing the asset or liability, assuming 
that market participants act in their eco-
nomic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-fi-
nancial asset takes into account a mar-
ket participant's ability to generate eco-
nomic benefits by using the asset in its 
highest and best use or by selling it to 
another market participant that would 
use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques 
that are appropriate in the circum-
stances and for which sufficient data 
are available to measure fair value, max-
imising the use of relevant observable 
inputs and minimising the use of unob-
servable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair 
value is measured or disclosed in the 
financial statements are categorised 
within the fair value hierarchy, described 
as follows, based on the lowest level in-
put that is significant to the fair value 
measurement as a whole:

■■ Level 1 – Quoted (unadjusted) market 
prices in active markets for identical 
assets or liabilities

■■ Level 2 – Valuation techniques for 
which the lowest level input that is 
significant to the fair value measure-
ment is directly or indirectly observ-
able

■■ Level 3 – Valuation techniques for 
which the lowest level input that is 
significant to the fair value measure-
ment is unobservable

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, 
the Group has determined classes of 
assets and liabilities on the basis of the 
nature, characteristics and risks of the 
asset or liability and the level of the fair 
value hierarchy, as explained above.

Dividends
Dividends are recognised when the 
Group’s right to receive the payment is 
established, which is generally when 
shareholders approve the dividend. Div-
idends to the Company's shareholders 
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are classified as a liability when the divi-
dends proposed have been approved by 
the Annual General Meeting.

Employee benefits
The Group has defined contribution 
pension plans. The pension premiums 
are charged to expenses as they are in-
curred, and classified as salary.

Employee share purchase or bonus 
program 
Webstep ASA introduced a share pur-
chase programme for employees of the 
Group as a part of the Initial Public Of-
fering in 2017, granting the employees 
additional shares free of charge after a 
vesting period of two years under cer-
tain criterias. The program is classified 
as equity-settled transaction. The cost 
of equity-settled transactions is deter-
mined by the fair value at the date when 
the grant is made using an appropriate 
valuation model. The cost is recognised 
in employee benefits expense, together 
with a corresponding increase in equity, 
over the period in which the service and 
the performance conditions are fulfilled 
(the vesting period). The cumulative ex-
pense recognised for equity-settled 
transactions at each reporting date un-
til the vesting date reflects the extent to 
which the vesting period has expired and 
the Group's best estimate of the num-
ber of equity instruments that will ulti-
mately vest. The expense or credit in the 

statement of profit or loss for a period 
represents the movement in cumulative 
expense recognised as at the beginning 
and end of that period. The dilutive ef-
fect of outstanding options is reflected 
as additional share dilution in the com-
putation of diluted earnings per share.

Leasing
A lease is classified at the inception date 
as a finance lease or an operating lease. 
A lease that transfers substantially all 
the risks and rewards incidental to own-
ership to the Group is classified as a fi-
nance lease.

The Group has not recognised any 
leasing contracts as financial since cri-
teria for transferring risk is assessed 
as not met. Current, operational leasing 
contracts are not significant in volume 
or amount.

Cash flow statement
The cash flow statement shows the Com-
pany’s cash flow for the year divided into 
operating, investing and financing activi-
ties during the year, as well as the year’s 
changes in cash and cash equivalents 
and the Company’s cash and cash equiva-
lents at the beginning and end of the year.

Cash flow from operating activities
Cash flow from operating activities is 
presented using the indirect presenta-
tion form and is stated as the year’s 
profit/loss before tax plus depreciation 

and impairment losses and with adjust-
ments for changes in working capital 
and paid corporate tax.

Cash flow from investing activities
Cash flow from investing activities in-
cludes payments in connection with the 
purchase and sale of non-current assets.

Cash flow from financing activities
Cash flow from financing activities in-
cludes changes in volume after the pool-
ing of the Company’s share capital and 
related costs as well as raising of loans, 
repayments on interest-bearing debt, 
and payment of dividends to owners.

Note 03: ESTIMATES, JUDGMENTS AND ASSUMPTIONS

Significant accounting judgment, 
estimates and assumptions
The preparation of the Group’s consoli-
dated financial statements requires man-
agement to make judgements, estimates 
and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of revenues, expenses, assets 
and liabilities, and the accompanying dis-
closures, and the disclosure of contingent 
liabilities. Uncertainty about these as-
sumptions and estimates could result in 
outcomes that require a material adjust-
ment to the carrying amount of assets or 
liabilities affected in future periods.

The key assumptions concerning the 
future and other key sources of estima-
tion uncertainty at the reporting date, that 
have a significant risk of causing a mate-
rial adjustment to the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities within the next finan-
cial year, are described below.

The Group based its assumptions and 
estimates on parameters available when 

the consolidated financial statements 
were prepared. Existing circumstances 
and assumptions about future develop-
ments, however, may change due to mar-
ket changes or circumstances arising 
that are beyond the control of the Group. 
Such changes are reflected in the as-
sumptions when they occur.

Impairment of non-financial assets 
(goodwill)
Impairment exists when the carrying 
value of an asset or cash generating unit 
exceeds its recoverable amount, which 
is the higher of its fair value less costs 
of disposal and its value in use.

The fair value less costs of disposal 
calculation is based on available data 
from binding sales transactions, con-
ducted at arm’s length, for similar assets 
or observable market prices less incre-
mental costs of disposing of the asset. 
The value in use calculation is based on 
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a DCF model. The cash flows are derived 
from the budget for the next five years 
and do not include restructuring activi-
ties that the Group is not yet committed 
to or significant future investments that 
will enhance the performance of the as-
sets of the CGU being tested. 

The recoverable amount is sensitive 
to the discount rate used for the DCF 
model as well as the expected future 

cash-inflows and the growth rate used 
for extrapolation purposes. These esti-
mates are most relevant to goodwill and 
other intangibles with indefinite useful 
lives recognised by the Group.

The key assumptions used to deter-
mine the recoverable amount for the dif-
ferent GGUs are disclosed and further 
explained in the notes.

Note 04: FINANCIAL RISKS AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Group’s principal financial liabili-
ties comprise loans and borrowings and 
trade and other payables. The main pur-
pose of these financial liabilities is to fi-
nance the Group’s operations. 

The Group’s principal financial assets 
include trade and other receivables, and 
cash and short-term deposits that derive 
directly from its operations.

The Group is exposed to market risk, 
credit risk, and liquidity risk. The Group’s 
Executive Directors oversees the man-
agement of these risks. A description of 
the different risks is given below. 

Market risk
The Group has a good order backlog and 
sales prospect, with consultants that are 
sought after in the market. In this regard, 
the Group will remain relatively stable in 
the event of a market downturn.

In addition, market risk comprise of 
interest-rate risk, foreign currency risk 
and market-price risk which are treated 
separately below.

Market risk – Interest-rate-risk
The short-term revolving credit facility 
is exposed to interest-rate risk because 
of floating interest rate contidions which 
makes the Group influenced by changes 
in the market rate. The Group evaluates 
this risk to be minimal due to the stable 
financial situation in Norway, combined 
with low net debt and strong financial 
position for the Group.

Market risk – currency risk
The Group is to a low degree exposed 
to currency risk. The domestic custom-
ers in each market segment are invoiced 
in either NOK or SEK and correspond-

ing expenses are in the same currency. 
Invoicing or expenses in other currency 
than the market segment, domestic cur-
rency, is insignificant. The Group state-
ments are influenced by the translation 
of the Swedish segment into NOK for 
reporting purposes – see principles for 
applying foreign currency in the Group 
statements.

Market risk – market price risk
Consistent deliveries over time in the 
different market segments according 
to established group policies have se-
cured a low-volatility price structure that 
has proven stable over time. The varia-
ble salary model for consultants also re-
duces risk of significant changes in the 
salary expenses.

Credit risk
The risk that counterparties will not fulfil 
their obligations is considered to be low. 
The Group engage with large and regu-
lar customers and has had low historical 
losses on receivables. The gross credit 
risk was NOK 126 million (2016: NOK 83 
millon) on the balance sheet date. The 
Group has not entered into derivative fi-
nancial instrument to hedge credit risk 
exposures. Liquidity and credit risk man-
agement is performed on a monthly ba-
sis and is evaluated in ordinary Board 
Meetings which occur approximately 
every second month.

Current financing and capital struc-

ture has limited interest-rate risk, and 
variation in interest expenses due to 
changes in Nibor would have insignifi-
cant impact on financial expenses in the 
Group and presentation of "Analysis of 
sensitivity" is therefore left out.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is that the Group will not 
be able to meet its financial obligations 
as the fall due. The Groups approach to 
manage liquidity is to ensure, as far as 
possible, that it will always have suffi-
cient liquidity to meet its liabilites when 
due, under both normal and stresed con-
ditions, wtihout incurring uacceptable 
losses or risking damage to the Groups 
reputation. Executive management have 
evaluated that the Group has good li-
quidity. Maturity of trade receivables 
have been reduced as a consequence 
of a process improvement in 2014. This 
has enhanced the liquidity of the Group.
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2017 Contractual maturity

NOK 1 000 Carrying amount Total < 1 year 1 – 5 years > 5 years

Debt to credit institutions 24 287 24 287 24 287 - -
Estimated interest 385 385 385 - -
Trade and other payables 16 659 16 659 16 659 - -
Social Taxes and VAT 49 255 49 255 49 255 - -
Other short-term debt 71 404 71 404 71 404 - -
Total 31 December 2017 161 990 161 990 161 990 - -

2016 Carrying amount Total Contractual maturity

NOK 1 000 < 1 year 1 – 5 years > 5 years

Debt to credit institutions 221 233 192 500 31 250 161 250 -
Estimated interest 24 857 24 857 8 501 16 356 -
Trade and other payables 10 615 10 615 10 615 - -
Social Taxes and VAT 48 895 48 895 48 895 - -
Other short-term debt 60 833 60 833 60 833 - -
Total 31 December 2016 280 743 252 010 90 760 161 250 -

Categories of financial instruments 2017 2016 

Carrying amount Fair value Carrying amount Fair value

Trade receivables 125 545 125 545 82 610 82 610 
Other receivables 3 585 3 585 4 139 4 139 
Cash and short-term deposits 6 580 6 580 80 311 80 311 
Financial assets measured at amortised cost 135 710 135 710 167 060 167 060 

Debt to credit instututions 24 287 24 287 221 233 221 233 
Trade payables 16 659 16 659 10 615 10 615 
Other payables 49 255 49 255 48 895 48 895 
Other short-term debt 71 404 71 404 60 833 60 833 
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 161 605 161 605 341 577 341 577 

The methods and assumptions used to estimate the fair value of debt instruments are described in note 1.

PAGE  35
Webstep ASA annual report 2017
ANNUAL ACCOUNTS – GROUP



Note 05: SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group provides IT related high-end consulting services. Operating segments are reported 
by country of operation. The Chief Operating Decision-Maker (CODM), who is responsible for 
allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has been iden-
tified as the steering committee consisting of the CEO and the CFO. The CODM examines 
the Group's performance by country of operation. Segment performance is evaluated based 
on the profit or loss measure "Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization" 
(EBITDA) and is measured consistently with profit or loss in the consolidated financial state-
ments. Assets and liabilities are not allocated to segments. 

The Group has currently two reportable segments: Norway and Sweden.

NOK 1 000 Norway Sweden Total PL

2017
Total revenue (IT-related consulting services) 495.2 101.3 596.5 596.5
Sum COGS, salaries and other operating cost 443.8 95.6 539.4 539.4
EBITDA 51.4 5.7 57.1 57.1
EBITDA margin (% of total revenue) 10.4% 5.6% 9.6% 9.6%

Sum COGS, salaries and other operating cost excl. 
non-recurring items 429.8 95.6 525.4
EBITDA excl. non-recurring items 65.4 5.7 71.1
EBITDA margin excl. non-recurring items (% of total 
revenue) 13.2% 5.6% 11.9%

NOK 1 000 Norway Sweden Total PL

2016
Total revenue (IT-related consulting services) 478.5 84.0 562.5 562.5
Sum COGS, salaries and other operating cost 411.0 78.8 489.8 489.8
EBITDA 67.5 5.3 72.8 72.7
EBITDA margin (% of total revenue) 14.1% 6.3% 12.9% 12.9%

Non-recurring items are defined as items that are infrequent or unsual compared to the re-
curring operations and which are not expected to incur again in the forseeable future in the 
course of the normal business of the Group.

Non-recurring items of NOK 14 million have been recorded in the fourth quarter of 2017, 
mainly consisting of IPO transaction costs and one-off costs related to a terminated recruit-
ment incentive program. See note 21 for details.

No non-recurring items were recorded in 2016.

Note 06: AUDIT FEES, SALARIES AND REMUNERATION

Audit fees*
	
NOK 1 000 2017 2016 

Statutory audit fees 739 831 
Audit-related assistance 103 173 
Non-audit related assistance 118 140 
Other included recognised on equity 708 266 
Total fee 1 669 1 410

* VAT is not included

Salaries and personnel expenses

NOK 1 000 2017 2016 

Salaries 357 654 333 306 
Social security costs 58 221 44 712 
Pensions 15 970 14 204 
Other benefits and refunds 16 549 25 675 
Total salaries and personnel expenses 448 395 417 897 

Number of full time equivalents 393 394
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Employee share program
Webstep ASA introduced a share purchase programme for 
employees of the Group as a part of the Initial Public Offer-
ing in 2017. Through the programme the Company offered 
employees shares ("Saving Shares") in Webstep ASA at a re-
duced price. Shares purchased through the programme are 
subject to a two year lock-in period. Additionally, purchased 
shares through the programme qualify for additional shares 
free of charge ("Matching Shares") after a vesting period of 
two years. Based on independent party calculations accord-
ing to an option-pricing model (“Black-Scholes”), a part of 
the discount is recognised as employee benefit expense in 
the statement of income and a part directly to equity. The 
main part of the discount is related to reduction in value due 

to the lock-in period and a loss on an equity transaction. 
The program is classified as equity-settled transaction.

In total 57 per cent of the employees purchased shares and 
participate in the programme. The total number of shares 
sold through the share programme was 428 441. The po-
tential dilution (Matching Shares) through the program ac-
counts for approximately 107 000 shares, which is valued 
NOK 2.8 million at balance date. Management invested 
through the employee share program and are entitled to 
2 488 shares, given fulfilment of the conditions for Match-
ing Shares. The allocated cost for the employee share pro-
gram ("Matching shares") in 2017 accounts for NOK 237 
thousand.

Remuneration to key employees 2017 2016

NOK 1 000
Compen-

sation Pension Other*
Compen-

sation Pension Other*

CEO – Kjetil Bakke Eriksen 3 031 49 22 2 531 47 16 
CFO – Anders Håvik Løken 2 518 46 19 1 501 43 16 
Chair of the board – Klaus-Anders Nysteen 106 - - - - -
Board member – Bjørn Ivar Danielsen 211 - - - - 200 
Board member – Terje Bakken 68 - - - - -
Board member – Siw Ødegaard 70 - - - - -
Board member – Toril Nag 62 - - - - -
Former board member – Rolf Helle employed 1 708 53 13 1 663 50 16 
Total remuneration 7 774 148 54 5 695 140 248

* Other consists of e.g. health insurance plans, travel expenses and telephone/mobile communication.

Determination of remuneration to employees 
Remuneration to key employees is based on a bonus scheme and key targets. The management was entitled to a  
bonus upon successful IPO. The amount is included in the figures above.

Main principles for the determination of remuneration for 
the executive management of Webstep ASA	
The main principle for the Company's remuneration policy is 
that the executive management shall be offered competitive 
terms when their total remuneration package is taken into 
account. Such package may consist of elements such as 
base-salary, bonus, share option schemes, benefits in kind 
and pension arrangements. The Company shall seek to of-
fer a remuneration level that is considered competitive and 
on market terms, compared to the level offered by its peers, 
and which seeks to satisfy the Company’s need to recruit 
and keep highly qualified personnel in the executive man-
agement. Salaries and other remuneration payable by the 
Company to its management executives will be aligned with 
the above policies for the calendar year 2018. 
 
The executive management may be offered perfor-
mance-based bonuses in addition to their base-salary 
and other benefits as described herein. Any such perfor-
mance-based bonus will be agreed on an individual basis if 
applicable. None of the members of the executive manage-
ment currently have bonus or any performance-based sal-
ary as part of their total remuneration package. 
 
In connection with the listing of the Company's shares 
on the Oslo Stock Exchange in 2017, the Company imple-
mented a share program for employees which was ap-
proved by the Company's general meeting on 14 September 
2017. The members of the executive management were of-
fered to participate in the program in the same way as the 
other employees of the Group on the approved terms and 
conditions. Other than this, the Company does not currently 
have remuneration schemes based on share values, nor any 
option programs for shares in the Company or other group 
companies. However, the board of directors will during the 
course of 2018 consider whether to implement a share pur-
chase program for the Group's employees. 
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The executive management participates in the Company’s 
defined contribution pension scheme in accordance with 
mandatory law and are entitled to free service telephone 
and private broadband, in addition company health services, 
as benefits in kind. The Company has not entered into any 
severance pay agreements with the executive management. 
 
The other companies in the Group shall follow the main prin-
ciples for remuneration of executives as is applicable for 
Webstep ASA.  
 
The Company did not enter into new employment agree-
ments with the executive management or amend their ex-
isting employment agreements during 2017 in a way that 
could have a material impact on the Company or its share-
holders. 
 
As the Company was converted to a public limited liability 
company in the second half of 2017, the Company has not 
previously prepared any declaration regarding the determi-
nation of salary and other remuneration for the executive 
management. However, the Company's remuneration of the 
executive management in 2017 complied with the guide-
lines stated above, provided that a one-time transaction bo-
nus was paid to the Company's executive management in 
connection with the listing of the Company's shares in 2017.  
 
The salary and other remuneration paid to the Company's 
executive management in 2017 are set out above. It is noted 
that only the Company's CEO and CFO are presently part of 
the Company's executive management. 
 
In 2017, the Company did not pay any remuneration beyond 
what follows from the existing employment agreements 
with the executive management other than as stated above.

Note 07: PENSION COSTS

The Group has an occupational pension scheeme in accordance with the Act on Required Oc-
cupational Pensions. Webstep ASA has defined contribution plans for all of its employees, 
governed by the employment laws. The pension premium charge is NOK 15 970 000 (2016: 
NOK 14 204 000).

Note 08: FINANCIAL ITEMS

Finance income
NOK 1 000 2017 2016

Interest income 3 493 1 695 
Other finance income (including foreign exchange effects) 205 21 
Total finance income 3 698 1 716 

Interest income primarily comprise interest received on bank deposits.

Finance expense
NOK 1 000 2017 2016

Interest expense (10 785) (8 394)
Other finance expense (including foreign exchange effects) (1 478) (925)
Total finance expense (12 263) (9 319)

Interest expense primarily comprise interest paid on bank loans. Amortized borrowing cost of 
NOK 1.4 million on terminated long-term borrowings is recognised as a financial expense in 2017.
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Note 09: TAXES

Consolidated statement of profit or loss
NOK 1 000 2017 2016 

Current income tax charge – Norway 6 409 14 888 
Deferred tax relating to operating activities – Norway 1 996 (438)
Current income tax charge – Sweden 88 801 
Deferred tax relating to operating activities – Sweden (1 980) (1 880)
Currency exchange effect and other - 662 
Income tax expense reported in the statement of profit or loss 6 513 14 033

Reconciliation of tax expense and the accounting profit multiplied by the Group’s domestic 
tax rate for 2017 and 2016:

Reconciliation of tax base:
NOK 1 000 2017 2016

Norway:
Accounting profit before tax 41 357 57 093 
Permanent differences (14 329) 723 
Contribution to Group - -
Utilized tax loss carried forward - -
Change in temporary differences (324) 1 737 
Tax base for group contributions 26 703 59 553 
Received Group contribution including tax - -
Tax base for the year 26 703 59 553 
Tax payable (24%/25%) 6 409 14 888 

Sweden:
Accounting profit before tax (993) (2 540)
Permanent differences 1 069 (2 366)
Change in temporary differences 8 998 8 547 
Tax base for the year 9 075 3 641 
Tax payable (22%) 1 996 801 
Prepaid tax Sweden (1 112) -
Total of tax payable reported in balance sheet 7 293 15 689 

		

Deferred tax
NOK 1 000 2017 2016 

Norway:
Fixed assets 639 963 
Receivables 365 365 
Other financial assets - -
Customer relationships - -
Total 1 004 1 328 
Net deferred tax asset/(liability) (23%/24%) 232 320 

Sweden:
Customer relationships - (6 025)
Other (7 345) (10 318)
Total (7 345) (16 343)
Net deferred tax asset/(liability) (22%) (1 616) (3 595)

Reflected in the statement of financial position as follows:
Deferred tax assets 232 320 
Deferred tax liabilities (1 616) (3 596)
Deferred tax liabilities, net (1 384) (3 276)

Effective tax rate
Expected income tax 9 707 13 714 
Permanent differences (3 204) (340)
Effect of change in tax rate and other 10 658 
Income tax expense* 6 513 14 033 

* Income tax expense in relation to income before tax 16.1% 25.7%

The Group's R&D initiatives have been approved by the Research Council of Norway (Forsk-
ningsrådet) to qualify for a government R&D tax incentive scheme (SkatteFUNN). The amount 
recognised as an expected public refund in 2017 is NOK 407 thousand. NOK 156 thousand 
were recorded i 2016.
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Note 10: INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL

NOK 1 000
Goodwill 
Norway

Goodwill 
Sweden

Customer 
relationships 

Norway

Customer 
relationships 

Sweden R&D Total

Cost
At 1 January 2016 313 575 71 988 43 000 33 556 - 462 119 
Additions - - - - - -
Disposals - - - - - -
Exchange adjustment - (6 618) - (1 242) - (7 860)
At 31 December 2016 313 575 65 370 43 000 32 314 - 454 259 
Reclassification* - - - - 1 250 1 250 
Additions - - - - 3 561 3 561 
Disposals - - - - - -
Exchange adjustment - 3 326 - 123 - 3 449 
At 31 December 2017 313 575 68 696 43 000 32 437 4 811 462 519 

*Classified as non-current financial asset in 2016. Reclassified in 2017.

Depreciation and impairment
At 1 January 2016 - - (40 850) (19 497) - (60 347)
Impairment - - - -
Depreciation charge for the year - - (2 150) (6 792) - (8 942)
At 31 December 2016 - - (43 000) (26 289) - (69 289)
Impairment - - - -
Depreciation charge for the year - - (6 148) - (8 942)
At 31 December 2017 - - (43 000) (32 437) - (75 437)

Net book value
At 31 December 2016 313 575 65 370 - 6 025 - 384 970 
At 31 December 2017 313 575 68 696 - - 4 811 387 082 

Useful life 5 year 5 year
Depreciation method Straight line Straight line
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Goodwill includes the value from acquisition of Webstep AS in 2011 and Webstep AB in 2012, 
where NOK 313.5 million and NOK 58.6 million was added to goodwill respectively. 
R&D comprises investments in the strategic initiative Webstep Internet of Things (IoT), where 
a total of NOK 4.8 million is recognised at balance date. The reclassification and recognition 
as an intangible asset is based on the management's assessment of future economic bene-
fits from the projects and that the criteria in IAS 38.57 is met.

Impairment testing
Goodwill acquired through business combinations has been allocated to two individual cash–
generating units, which are also reportable segments, for impairment testing, as follows:

Cash generating unit:
NOK 1 000 2017 2016 

Norway 313 575 313 575 
Sweden 68 696 65 370 
Total 382 271 378 945

An annual impairment test is conducted for each cash generating unit, by evaluating the pres-
ent value of future cash flows, based on cash flow projections ten years ahead. The recoverable 
amounts for Webstep AS and Webstep AB are NOK 953 million and NOK 216 million respectively.  
 
Key assumptions used in value in use calculations and sensitivity to changes in assumptions: 
The calculation of value in use for goodwill related to the acquisition of Webstep AS and Web-
step AB is most sensitive to the following assumptions:

■■ Discount rates
■■ EBITDA
■■ Growth rates used to extrapolate cash flows beyond the forecast period

A discount rate of 8 per cent after tax is used for both CGU's (Norway and Sweden). The forecast 
takes into account both historical results, expected future growth rates, and market conditions. 
For Webstep AS, the underlying model assumes a conservative growth rate and EBITDA com-
pared to Norway's annual growth rate and EBITDA in the past two years. The model for Web-
step AB is more extensive. Calculations of annual cash flows are made per department, based 
on periodized employee development, utilization rate, expected trend in hourly rate, sales / man-
agement / overhead changes, wage growth and cost growth. The budget period is one year.  
 
At current, there are no indications that impairment is required.					   

Note 11: FIXED ASSETS

Cost

NOK 1 000 Equipment, fixtures and furniture

At 1 January 2016 9 510 
Additions 1 703 
Disposals (37)
Exchange adjustment -
Cost at 31 December 2016 11 176 
Additions 4 500 
Disposals -
Exchange adjustment -
Cost at 31 December 2017 15 676 

Depreciation and impairment
At 1 January 2016 (6 851)
Disposals -
Impairment -
Depreciation charge for the year (1 621)
Exchange adjustment -
Other 34 
At 31 December 2016 (8 438)
Disposals -
Impairment -
Depreciation charge for the year (2 009)
Exchange adjustment -
Other -
At 31 December 2017 (10 447)

Net book value
At 31 December 2016 2 738 
At 31 December 2017 5 228 

Useful life 3 – 5 year
Depreciation method Straight line
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Note 12: FINANCIAL ASSETS – NON-CURRENT VS CURRENT

In 2017 the remaining amortised borrowing cost on long-term debt was recognised as a finan-
cial cost due to refinancing of the Group. The R&D initiative Internet of Things (IoT) was re-
classified to an intangible asset in 2017.		
	 	
Financial assets	

NOK 1 000 2017 2016

Project: Internet of Things (IoT) 1 250 1 250
Reclassification of project * (1 250) -
Amortised borrowing cost - 1 444
Total - 2 694

	 	
* Reference to note 10		

Note 13: TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade and other receivables

NOK 1 000 2017 2016

Trade receivables – net of related parties  125 910  82 975 
Provision for bad debt (365) (365)
Trade Receivables net of provision  125 545  82 610 
Prepayments and other receivables  3 585  4 139 
Receivables related to related parties - -
Payables to Related Parties - -
Total trade receivables  129 130  86 750 
Of which long-term receivables to related parties - -
Short-term Receivables  129 130  86 750

Specification of receivables

NOK 1 000 2017 2016

Trade receivables  125 442  82 243 
Accrued income  103  367 
Other receivables  -  - 
Trade and other receivables  125 545  82 610 
Prepaid costs  1 979  2 818 
Prepaid public duty debt  1 510  1 048 
Prepaid rent  96  273 
Prepayments 3 585 4 139
Total 129 130 86 749

		
Due dates & Fair value of trade and other receivables	
	
NOK 1 000 2017 2016

Due within one year*)  129 130  86 749 
After one year **)  -  - 
Fair Value  129 130  86 749 

	 	
*) For receivables due within one year, fair value is equal to nominal value.
**) Receivables that due later than one year are discoundet and stated as fair value.

Group has a bad debt provison of NOK 365 thousand both in 2017 and 2016.

NOK 1 000 Total Not due
Less than 

30 days
30-60 

days
60-90 days 
and above

2017 125 910 61 717 58 156 3 136 2 901
2016 82 975 53 698 24 494 2 384 2 399
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 Trade receivables at year end were NOK 125.9 million (NOK 83.0 million). The increase from 
the same balance date in 2016 is primarily a consequence of 31 December 2017 falling on 
a Sunday, and concurrently being the due date for a significant part of the receivables. Such 
payments are normally registered as cash received after the weekend. Consequently, trade 
receivables dropped significantly in the first days of January. Approximately NOK 45 million 
were paid by 3 January 2018, leaving trade receivables at approximately NOK 80 million after 
this date.

Note 14: CASH AND SHORT-TERM DEPOSITS

Cash and Cash Equivalents
	
NOK 1 000 2017 2016

Cash in bank 6 580 80 311 
Cash equivalents - -
Total Cash and Cash Equivalents 6 580 80 311 

Utilised bank overdraft 24 287 59 983 
Net Cash and Cash Equivalents/Bank overdraft (17 707) 20 328 

Of which restricted Cash:
Guarantees for leases and credits from suppliers - -
Taxes withheld 628 882 
Other restricted cash - -
Total Restricted Cash 628 882

A NOK 110 million Revolving Credit Facility (“RCF”) and new bank agreements were entered 
into with SpareBank 1 SR-Bank ASA by the Company as a part of the IPO process. 

The new bank agreements include a cash pooling account system in the Norwegian opera-
tion, which implies a change in how the Group reports cash, short term deposits and utilised 
overdraft facilities. Cash and short-term deposits and overdraft facilities are now being re-
ported as a net figure, while it has previously been reported as separate gross figures on the 

balance sheet. The RCF may be utilised by each member of the Group having acceded to the 
cash pooling account system. For details on the Group's cash reporting and cash pooling sys-
tem, see note 16. 

Note 15: SHARE CAPITAL, CAPITAL MANAGEMENT AND LARGEST 
SHAREHOLDERS

Share capital			 
The Company has only one share class and all shares have equal voting rights. 			 

In 1 000 2017 2016 

Authorised:
Ordinary shares of NOK 1 each 26 967 21 256 

Ordinary shares Issued and fully paid:
At 1 January 21 256 20 125 
Issued 5 711 1 130 
At 31 December 26 967 21 256 

Treasury shares:
At 1 January (610) (604)
Purchase of treasury shares - (6)
At 31 December (610) (610)

Foreign currency translation reserve

NOK 1 000 2017 

At 1 January 2016 15 285 
Foreign currency translation (6 438)
At 31 December 2016 8 847 
Foreign currency translation 3 544 
At 31 December 2017 12 391 
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Capital management
The Group is financed by equity with a credit facilty to finance fluctuations in net working cap-
ital.

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management policy are to ensure that the Group 
complies with externally imposed capital requirements and maintains strong credit ratings 
and healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and to maximise shareholder value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it according to changes 
in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of its activities. In order to maintain or ad-
just the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividend payment to sharehold-
ers, return capital to shareholders or issue capital securities.

No changes have been made to the objectives, policies and processes from the previous 
years. However, they are under constant review by the board.

20 largest shareholders
Number 

of shares Ownership Voting rights

Global Digital Holding AS 3 844 255 14.26% 14.59%
Virtus Kar International Small-cap 2 760 800 10.24% 10.47%
Verdipapirfondet Alfred Berg Gamba 1 532 037 5.68% 5.81%
Jpmorgan Chase Bank, n.a., London 1 142 000 4.23% 4.33%
Colina Invest as 839 080 3.11% 3.18%
Park Lane Family Office AS 800 000 2.97% 3.04%
Vpf Nordea Norge Verdi 685 000 2.54% 2.60%
Nordea Nordic Small Cap Fund 671 311 2.49% 2.55%
Webstep ASA (treasury shares) 610 301 2.26% 0.00%
Goldman Sachs International 595 494 2.21% 2.26%
Xerxes as 540 000 2.00% 2.05%
Svenska Handelsbanken AB 489 160 1.81% 1.86%
Citibank, n.a. 438 491 1.63% 1.66%
Sole Active as 401 046 1.49% 1.52%
SEB Prime Solutions Carn Long Shor 400 000 1.48% 1.52%
Dnb Nor Bank Asa 395 000 1.46% 1.50%
NWT Media AS 390 000 1.45% 1.48%
Illari AS 387 268 1.44% 1.47%
Borea Global Equities Spesialfond 352 264 1.31% 1.34%
Danske Invest Norge Vekst 342 000 1.27% 1.30%
Total 20 largest shareholders 17 615 507 65.33% 64.52%
Other shareholders 9 351 510 34.67% 35.48%
Total shares 26 967 017 100.00% 100.00%

Shareholding by board and  
executive management
Nysteen Invest AS (Klaus-Anders Nysteen) 20 408 0.08% 0.08%
Colina Invest AS (Kjetil Bakke Eriksen) 839 080 3.11% 3.18%
Canacas AS (Anders Håvik Løken) 116 756 0.43% 0.44%

* Webstep ASA holds 610 301 treasury shares. These shares have no voting rights nor  
dividend rights.
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Note 16: INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS

Net proceeds of NOK 123 million from new equity was used to partly repay the former long-
term loan (balance of NOK 170 million at 30 September 2017). The remainder of the loan was 
converted to the a new credit facility, which is detailed below. The former NOK 40 million over-
draft facility was replaced by the new credit facility.

A NOK 110 million Revolving Credit Facility ("RCF") with SpareBank 1 SR-Bank ASA was en-
tered into by the Company as a part of the IPO process. The RCF became effective on 11 Oc-
tober 2017 upon (i) completion of the offering with minimum gross proceeds from the offer 
of the New Shares of NOK 100 million, (ii) repayment and cancellation of the former Senior 
Facility Arrangement and (iii) cancellation of the former Overdraft Facility of NOK 40 million. 
The RCF may be utilised by each member of the Group having acceded to the cash pooling ac-
count system related to the RCF.  

The term of the RCF is two years, after which it is subject to renewal. The total payable inter-
est rate is based on 3 months NIBOR in addition to an agreed margin of 2.85 per cent per an-
num. The interest calculation is based on the net of cash and overdraft. The quarterly charge 
for the credit facility is 0.25 per cent of the granted credit. Under the RCF, the Company have 
pledged security over the shares, inventory, insurance payouts and accounts receivable in 
Webstep AS and negative pledge over the shares in Webstep AB. 

Covenant conditions: Book equity for the Group shall consist of at least 30 per cent of total 
capital, measured quarterly. Ratio of NIBD / EBITDA maximum 3, measured quarterly, rolling 
12 months. 

Cash and debt reporting
With the refinancing of the debt structure, new bank agreements were entered into. The new 
agreements include a cash pooling account system in the Norwegian operation, which im-
plies a change in how the Group reports cash, short term deposits and bank overdraft. While 
these figures have previously been reported separately under assets and debt respectively, 
the same figures are now reported as one net figure, either asset or debt, depending on the 
net figure, to reflect the actual interest-bearing figure at balance date.

The cash and overdraft figures reported as of 31 December 2016 have therefore been re-
stated in the tables below, in order to ease comparison between the 2017 and 2016.

NOK 1 000 2017 2016
Restated 

2016

Non-current borrowings
Debt to credit institutions - 161 250 161 250 

Current borrowings
Debt to credit institutions 24 287 59 983 31 250 
Total borrowings 24 287 221 233 192 500 

Booked value of assets pledged as security
Shares 432 119 435 010 435 010 
Fixed assets 5 228 2 738 2 738 
Receivables 125 545 82 547 82 547 
Cash 6 580 80 311 51 578 
Total 569 472 600 606 571 873

Other financial liabilities at amortised cost, other than interest-bearing loans and 
borrowings:

NOK 1 000 2017 2016
Restated 

2016

Trade payables 16 659 10 615 10 615 
Other payables 49 255 48 895 48 895 
Other short-term debt 71 404 60 833 60 833 
Total financial liabilities 161 605 341 577 312 844 
Total current 161 605 180 327 151 594 
Total non-current - 161 250 161 250

Other short-term debt mainly consists of; 1) accrued salaries for the past month, for payment 
to employees in accordance with the salary model, 2) accrued holiday pay as required by law, 
for payment to employees in June every year and 3) accrued bonus from terminated recruit-
ment incentive program, for payment in 2018.
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Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

Year ended 2016

NOK 1 000
1 Jan 
2016

Cash 
flows Other

31 Dec 
2016

Debt to credit institutions non-current 21 000 140 250 - 161 250
Debt to credit institutions current 62 616 (2 633) - 59 983
Total liabilities from financing activities 83 616 137 616 - 221 232

Year ended 2017

NOK 1 000
1 Jan 
2017

Cash 
flows Other

31 Dec 
2017

Debt to credit institutions non-current 161 250 (161 250) - -
Debt to credit institutions current 59 983 (35 696) - 24 287
Total liabilities from financing activities 221 232 (196 946) - 24 287

Note 17: TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

NOK 1 000 2017 2016

Trade and other payables 16 659 10 615 
Social Taxes and VAT 49 255 48 895 
Accrued vacation pay 32 589 31 512 
Accrued expenses 36 118 29 180 
Other current payables 2 697 142 
Total Trade and other payables 137 318 120 344

Note 18: OTHER SHORT-TERM DEBT

NOK 1 000 2017 2016

Salaries payable, holiday pay, bonus etc. 66 976 59 016
Other accrued expenses 1 756 1 700
Received prepayments of revenues 2 672 117
Other - -
Total other short-term debt 71 404 60 833

Payable to sub-contractors and fees has been reclassified to accounts payable.

Note 19: RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

The consolidated financial statements of the Group include:
% equity interest

Name
Country of  

in-corporation 2017 2016

Webstep AS Norway 100% 100%
Webstep AB Sweden 100% 100%

Webstep ASA is the ultimate parent of the Group, and wholly owns Webstep AS and Webstep 
AB. Balances and transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related 
parties to the Company, have been eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in this 
Note. The Group does not have any material transactions with related parties, except for re-
muneration to management (note 6).

Note 20: EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

Since 31 December 2017 and until the date of these financial statements, the board of direc-
tors is not aware of any matter or circumstance not otherwise dealt with in this report that has 
significantly or may significantly affect the operations of the consolidated entity.
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Note 21: IPO RELATED EXPENSES AND OTHER NON-RECURRING ITEMS

Non-recurring items of NOK 14 million have been recorded in the fourth quarter of 2017, 
mainly consisting of IPO transaction costs and one-off costs related to a terminated recruit-
ment incentive program.

NOK 1 000 Total

Cost of services rendered 2 815 
Salary and personnel costs 10 690 
Other operating expenses 443 
Sum 13 948

In addition an amount of NOK 14 million has been recognised in equity, which is directly 
related to the capital increase in 2017.

NOK 1 000
Share

capital
Share

premium Total

Share issuance cost
Payment gross on share issuance 5 711 131 893 137 604
Issuance cost recognised in equity (14 416) (14 416)
Net paid on share issuance 5 711 117 477 123 188

Note 22: EARNINGS PER SHARE

2017 had dilutive effects on the number of shares due to the Initial Public Offering (IPO).  
A total of 5 711 285 new shares were issued, following the IPO.

In connection with the IPO, the Company implemented a share program for the Group's em-
ployees. The potential dilution through this program accounts for approximately 107 000 
shares. See note 6 for further detail on the share program. 

The Company had at 31 December 2017 one share class and a total of 26 356 714 outstand-
ing shares (excl. treasury shares). 

Basic earnings per share calculations are based on the weighted average number of common 
shares outstanding during the period, while diluted earnings per share calculations are per-

formed using the average number of common shares and dilutive common shares equiva-
lents outstanding during each period.

Amounts in 1 000 2017 2016

Profit for the year 33 851 40 519 
Average number of shares outstanding 21 879 20 023 
Average number of shares and options outstanding 21 906 20 023 

Basic earnings per share (NOK/Share) 1.55 2.02
Diluted earnings per share 1.55 2.02

Average number of shares outstanding 21 879 20 023 
Dilutional effects 27 -
Warrants - -
Average number of shares outstanding adjusted for 
dilutional effects 21 906 20 023

Note 23: RENT AND LEASE AGREEMENTS

The Group has no finance leases.

Leasing costs expensed in other operating expenses in 2017 was NOK 6.1 million (2016: NOK 
5.9 million), primarily related to office rent.

Annual minimum rent on non-cancellable operating lease agreements per 31 December is as 
follows:

Office rent

NOK 1 000
Nominal values 

31 Dec 2017
Nominal values 

31 Dec 2016

Within one year 3 865 3 864 
Between 1 and 5 years 5 595 9 173 
Later than 5 years - -
Total 9 460 13 037
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Note 24: CONTINGENCIES AND LEGAL CLAIMS

The Group has not been involved in any legal or financial disputes in 2017, where an adverse 
outcome is considered more likely than remote.

Note 25: ALTERNATIVE PERFORMANCE MEASURES

Webstep discloses alternative performance measures as a supplement to the financial state-
ments prepared in accordance with IFRS. Webstep believes that the alternative performance 
measures provide useful supplemental information to management, investors, equity ana-
lysts and other stakeholders. These measures are commonly used and are meant to provide 
an enhanced insight into the financial development of Webstep’s business operations and to 
improve comparability between periods.

Profit measures
EBITDA is short for Earnings before Interest and other financial items, Taxes, Depreciation and 
Amortisation and is a term commonly used by analysts and investors.

EBITDA excl. non-recurring costs is Earnings before Interest and other financial items, Taxes, 
Depreciation and Amortisation excluding impact of non-recurring items as specified when 
such costs occur.

EBITDA per employee is Earnings before Interest and other financial items, Taxes, Deprecia-
tion and Amortisation divided by the average number of employees.

EBITDA per employee excl. non-recurring costs is Earnings before Interest and other financial 
items, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortisation excluding impact of non-recurring items as spec-
ified when such costs occur.

The table below show how certain of the above measures are derived from the IFRS consoli-
dated financial statements:

NOK 1 000 2017 2016

Operating profit (loss) 48 929 62 156
Depreciation and impairment 8 156 10 563
EBITDA 57 086 72 719
Non-recurring costs 13 948 -
EBITDA excl. non-recurring cost 71 034 72 719

Non-recurring items of NOK 14 million have been recorded in the fourth quarter of 2017, 
mainly consisting of IPO transaction costs and one-off costs related to a terminated recruit-
ment incentive program.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – PARENT COMPANY

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

NOK 1 000 Note 2017 2016

Sales Revenues 5  150  250 
Total revenues  150  250 

Salaries and personnel expenses 3, 4 (11 295) (7 062)
Depreciation and impairment 6 (14) (7)
Other operating expenses 3 (4 302) (2 849)
Total operating expenses (15 612) (9 918)
Operating profit (loss) (15 462) (9 668)

Finance income and expense
Finance income from group companies  46 949  77 242 
Interest income from group companies  -  1 000 
Other interest income  491  - 
Other finance income  190  135 
Interest expense from group companies (304) (3 235)
Other interest expenses (10 172) (8 040)
Net financial items  37 154  67 102 

Profit before tax  21 692  57 435 

Income tax expense 11 (1 751) (15 004)
Profit for the year  19 942  42 431 

Total comprehensive income for the year  19 942  42 431 

Attributable to:
Dividends (39 535)  - 
Change in retained earnings  19 593 (42 431)
Total (19 942) (42 431)
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

NOK 1 000 Note 2017 2016

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 6  44  15 
Investments in subsidaries 7, 10  432 119  435 010 
Loans to group companies 8  228  11 182 
Other non-current receivables  -  1 444 
Total non-current assets  432 391  447 650 

Current assets
Trade receivables  150  250 
Other receivables 8  69 791  80 206 
Cash and short-term deposits 2, 10  628  504 
Total current assets  70 569  80 960 

Total assets  502 961  528 610 

NOK 1 000 Note 2017 2016

Equity
Share capital 12  26 967  21 256 
Treasury shares (610) (610)
Share premium  149 827  32 109 
Retained earnings  156 611  176 204 
Total equity  332 794  228 958 

Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax 11  1  1 
Debt to credit institutions 10  -  161 250 
Total non-current liabilities  -  161 250 

Current liabilities
Debt to credit institutions 10  108 534  59 983 
Trade and other payables 8  1 878  56 
Tax payable 11  6 409  14 888 
Social Taxes and VAT 2  856  4 
Dividend  39 535  - 
Other short-term debt 9  1 195  1 942 
Current debt to group companies 8  11 759  61 528 
Total current liabilities  170 166  138 401 

Total liabilities  170 167  299 652 

Total equity and liabilities  502 961  528 610 

Oslo, 21 March 2018
The board of directors and CEO

Webstep ASA

Klaus-Anders Nysteen Siw Ødegaard Terje Bakken Toril Nag Bjørn Ivar Danielsen Kjetil Bakke Eriksen
Chair of the board Board member Board member Board member Board member CEO
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

NOK 1 000 2017 2016

Operating activities
Profit/ (loss) before tax  21 692  57 435 
Adjustments for:
Income tax expense (14 888) (9 819)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  14  7 
Net change in trade receivables  23  250 
Net change in other receivables (897)  1 363 
Net change in trade creditors  314 (888)
Net change in social taxes and VAT  328 (555)
Net change in other liabilities (747) (24)
Net change in intercompany balances  1 508  - 
Net cash flow from operating activities  7 347  47 769 

Investing activities
Purchase of property and equipment (44)  - 
Investment in subsidiary (11 860) (4 552)
Repayment on shares  19 409  2 471 
Net cash flow from financing activities  7 505 (2 081)

Financing activities
Proceeds from borrowings  -  200 000 
Repayment of borrowings (192 500) (62 384)
Change in bank overdraft  79 772  - 
Change in intercompany balances (25 460) (35 467)
Net proceeds from equity  123 429  22 208 
Purchase of treasury shares  - (130)
Payment of dividends  - (170 000)
Net cash flow from financing activities (14 759) (45 774)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  124 (86)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January  504  590 
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December  628  504 
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Attributable to owners of Webstep ASA

Non- 
controlling 

interests

NOK 1 000
Issued 
capital

Treasury 
shares

Share 
premium

Retained 
earnings Total Total

Total 
equity

At 31 December 2016  21 255 (610)  32 109  176 204  228 958 -  228 958 
At 1 January 2017  21 255 (610)  32 109  176 204  228 958 -  228 958 
Profit for the period  -  -  -  19 942  19 942  -  19 942 
Other comprehensive income/(loss)  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Total comprehensive income for the period  -  -  -  19 942  19 942  -  19 942 
Shares issued  5 711  -  117 481  -  123 193  -  123 193 
Share incentive program  -  -  237  -  237  -  237 
Dividends provided for  -  -  - (39 535) (39 535) -  -39 535 
At 31 December 2017  26 966 (610)  149 827  156 611  332 794  -  332 794 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – PARENT COMPANY

Note 01: �ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

Webstep ASA, the Parent Company of 
the Webstep Group (the Group) is a pub-
lic limited company incorporated and 
domiciled in Norway, with its head office 
in Lilleakerveien 8, 0283 Oslo, Norway.

The annual report for the Webstep 
ASA (the Company) is prepared accord-
ing to the Norwegian Accounting Act 
1998 § 3-9 and Regulations on simpli-
fied IFRS as enacted by the Ministry of 
Finance on 21 January 2008. In all mate-
rial aspects, Norwegian Simplified IFRS 
requires that the IFRS recognition and 
measurement criteria (as adopted by 
the European Union) are complied with, 
but disclosure and presentation require-
ments (the notes) follow the Norwegian 
Accounting Act and Norwegian Gener-
ally Accepted Accounting Standards.

Simplified IFRS
The Company has adopted the following 
simplified IFRS recognition and meas-
urement criteria: Dividend and group 
contribution is accounted for in accord-
ance with the Norwegian Accounting 
Act, deviating from IAS 10, IAS 12 and 
IAS 13.

Management’s assessment of 
accounting principles
The management has used estimates 
and assumptions that have impacted 
assets, liabilities, income, expenses and 

information about potential obligations, 
particularly relating to depreciation of 
property, plant and equipment, assess-
ment of goodwill and acquisitions. Fu-
ture events may cause changes in esti-
mates. Estimates and the underlying as-
sumptions are continuously assessed. 
Changes in accounting estimates are 
recognised in the accounting period 
these changes occur. If the changes 
also apply to future periods, the impact 
will be distributed over the current and 
future periods.

Subsidiaries and investments in 
associates
Subsidiaries and investments in asso-
ciates are valued by the cost method in 
the parent company accounts. The in-
vestment is valued as cost of acquiring 
shares in the subsidiary, providing that 
write down is not required. Write down to 
fair value will be carried out if the reduc-
tion in value is caused by circumstances 
which may not be regarded as inciden-
tal, and deemed necessary by generally 
accepted accounting principles. Write 
downs are reversed when the cause of the 
initial write down are no longer present.

Dividends and other distributions are 
recognised in the same year as appro-
priated in the subsidiary accounts. Div-
idend from other companies are recog-
nised when the shareholders’ rights to 

received dividend has been determined 
by the General Meeting.

If dividends exceed withheld profits 
after acquisition, the exceeding amount 
represents reimbursement of invested 
capital, and the distribution will be sub-
tracted from the value of the acquisition 
in the balance sheet. 

Group contribution received from 
subsidiaries are recognised if it exceeds 
withheld profits after acquisition. Group 
contribution is recognised at gross value 
before tax at the time of recognition. 

Reimbursement of invested capital 
will reduce the value of the acquisition 
in the balance sheet. Group contribution 
will then be recognised at net value af-
ter tax.  

Group contribution to subsidiaries 
increases the value of the investment. 
Group contribution paid is recognised at 
net value net after tax.

Sales revenues
Revenues from services are recognised 
at execution.

Balance sheet classification
Current assets and current debt com-
prise assets and debt due within one 
year. Other entries are classified as fixed 
assets and/or long-term creditors. 

Current assets are valued at the lower 
of acquisition cost and fair value. Short 
term creditors are recognised at nomi-
nal value.

Fixed assets are valued at the cost of 
acquisition, in the case of non-incidental 
reduction in value the asset will be writ-
ten down to the fair value amount. Fixed 
assets with limited life time are depre-
ciated. Long term debt is recognised at 
historical nominal value.

Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables and other current re-
ceivables are recorded in the balance 
sheet at nominal value less provisions 
for doubtful debts.  Provisions for doubt-
ful debts are calculated based on indi-
vidual assessments. In addition, for the 
remainder of accounts receivables out-
standing balances, a general provision is 
carried out based on expected loss.

Foreign currency translation
Foreign currency transactions are trans-
lated using the year end exchange rates.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is capital-
ised and depreciated over the estimated 
useful economic life time. Direct main-
tenance costs are expensed as incurred, 
whereas improvements and upgrading 
are assigned to the acquisition cost and 
depreciated along with the asset. If carry-
ing value of a non-current asset exceeds 
the estimated recoverable amount, the 
asset is written down to the recoverable 
amount. The recoverable amount is the 
greater of the net selling price and value 
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in use. In assessing value in use, the esti-
mated future cash flows are discounted 
to their present value.

Provisions
A provision is recognised in the balance 
sheet when the Group has a legal or con-
structive obligation because of a past 
event, and it is probable that an outflow 
of resources will be required to settle the 
obligation, and a reliable estimate of the 
amount can be made. If the effect is ma-
terial, the provision is determined by dis-
counting the expected future cash flows 
at a pre-tax rate that reflects the current 
market assessments of the time value of 
money and, where appropriate, the risks 
specific to the liability

Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately 
are measured at initial recognition at 
cost. The cost of intangible assets ac
quired in a business combination is their 
fair value at the date of acquisition. Fol
lowing initial recognition, intangible as
sets are carried at cost less any accu
mulated amortisation and accumulated 
impairment losses. Internally generated 
intangibles, excluding capitalised devel-
opment costs, are not capitalised and 
the related expenditure is reflected in 
profit or loss in the period in which the 
expenditure is incurred.

 The useful lives of intangible assets 
are assessed as either finite or indef

inite Intangible assets with finite lives are 
amortised over the useful economic life 
and assessed for impairment whenever 
there is an indication that the intangible 
asset may be impaired. The amortisa
tion period and the method are reviewed 
at least at the end of each reporting pe
riod. Changes in the expected useful life 
or the expected pattern of consumption 
of future economic benefits are consid
ered to modify the amortisation period or 
method, as appropriate, and are treated 
as changes in accounting estimates.

Pensions
The Company has a Defined-Contribu-
tion Pension plan. Annual premium is 
recognised on as continuous basis and 
classified as payroll costs.

Income tax
Tax expenses in the profit and loss ac-
count comprise both tax payable for the 
accounting period and changes in de-
ferred tax. Deferred tax is calculated at 23 
per cent based on existing temporary dif-
ferences between accounting profit and 
taxable profit together with tax deductible 
deficits at the year end. Temporary differ-
ences both positive and negative, are bal-
ance out within the same period. Deferred 
tax assets are recorded in the balance 
sheet to the extent it is more likely than 
not that the tax assets will be utilised.

To the extent that group contribution 
is not registered in the profit and loss, 

the tax effect of group contribution is 
posted directly against the investment in 
the balance.

 
Cash flow statement
The cash flow statement is presented 
using the indirect method. Cash and 
cash equivalents includes cash, bank 
deposits and other short term, highly liq-
uid placement with original maturities of 
three months or less.

Equity
Financial instruments are classified as 
debt or equity in accordance with the un-
derlying financial reality.

Interest, dividend and profit or loss re-
lated to a financial instrument classified 

as debt, will be presented as cost or in-
come. Dividend payments to holders of 
financial instruments classified as eq-
uity will be booked against equity.

Own equity instruments that are reac
quired (treasury shares) are recognised 
at cost and deducted from equity. No 
gain or loss is recognised in profit or 
loss on the purchase, sale, issue or ‘s 
cancellation of the Company’s own eq-
uity instruments. Transaction costs re-
lated to an equity transaction will be 
booked against equity, net of taxes.

Note 02: BANK DEPOSITS 

Webstep ASA has restricted cash of NOK 628 000 to cover taxes withheld.
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Note 03: SALARIES, REMUNERATION AND AUDIT FEES

Salaries and personell expenses

NOK 1 000 2017 2016

Salaries 8 411 5 927
Social security cost 1 161 862
Pensions 158 149
Other benefits and refunds 1 566 124
Total salaries and personal expenses 11 295 7 062

The company had three full time employees (FTE) in 2017.

Remuneration to key employees

NOK 1 000 Compensation Pension Other

CEO – Kjetil Bakke Eriksen 3 031 49 22
CFO – Anders Håvik Løken 2 518 46 19
Chair of the board – Klaus-Anders Nysteen 106 - -
Board member – Bjørn Ivar Danielsen 211 - -
Board member – Terje Bakken 68 - -
Board member – Siw Ødegaard 70 - -
Board member – Toril Nag 62 - -
Former board member – Rolf Helle employed 1 708 53 13

Employee share program
Webstep ASA introduced a share purchase 
programme for employees of the group as 
a part of the Initial Public Offering in 2017. 
Through the programme the company of-
fered employees shares ("Saving Shares") 
in Webstep ASA at a reduced price. Shares 
purchased through the programme are 

subject to a two year lock-in period. Addi-
tionally, purchased shares through the pro-
gramme qualify for additional shares free 
of charge ("Matching Shares") after a vest-
ing period of two years. Based on independ-
ent party calculations according to an op-
tion-pricing model (“Black-Scholes”), a part 
of the discount is recognised as employee 

benefit expense in the statement of income 
and a part directly to equity. The main part 
of the discount is related to reduction in 
value due to the lock-in period and a loss on 
an equity transaction. The program is clas-
sified as equity-settled transaction.  
 
The potential dilution ("Matching shares") 
through the program accounts for approxi-
mately 107 000 shares, which is valued NOK 
2.8 million at balance date, whereas the 
main part of the cost will be for the subsid-
iaries. Management invested through the 
employee share program and are entitled 
to 2,488 shares, given fulfilment of the con-
ditions for Matching shares. In 2017 NOK 9 
thousand is recognised as cost. Remaining, 
estimated cost for 2018 and 2019 is at 31 
December 2017 NOK 89 thousand.

Main principles for the determination of re-
muneration for the executive management 
of Webstep ASA
The main principle for the Company's remu-
neration policy is that the executive man-
agement shall be offered competitive terms 
when their total remuneration package is 
taken into account. Such package may con-
sist of elements such as base-salary, bo-
nus, share option schemes, benefits in kind 
and pension arrangements. The Company 
shall seek to offer a remuneration level that 
is considered competitive and on market 
terms, compared to the level offered by its 
peers, and which seeks to satisfy the Com-
pany’s need to recruit and keep highly qual-
ified personnel in the executive manage-

ment. Salaries and other remuneration pay-
able by the Company to its management 
executives will be aligned with the above 
policies for the calendar year 2018. 
 
The executive management may be of-
fered performance-based bonuses in ad-
dition to their base-salary and other ben-
efits as described herein. Any such per-
formance-based bonus will be agreed on 
an individual basis if applicable. None of 
the members of the executive manage-
ment currently have bonus or any perfor-
mance-based salary as part of their total re-
muneration package. 
 
In connection with the listing of the Com-
pany's shares on the Oslo Stock Exchange 
in 2017, the Company implemented a share 
program for employees which was approved 
by the Company's general meeting on 14 
September 2017. The members of the ex-
ecutive management were offered to par-
ticipate in the program in the same way as 
the other employees of the group on the ap-
proved terms and conditions. Other than 
this, the Company does not currently have 
remuneration schemes based on share val-
ues, nor any option programs for shares in 
the Company or other group companies. 
However, the board of directors will during 
the course of 2018 consider whether to im-
plement a share purchase program for the 
group's employees. 
 
The executive management participates in 
the Company’s defined contribution pension 
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scheme in accordance with mandatory law 
and are entitled to free service telephone 
and private broadband, in addition com-
pany health services, as benefits in kind. 
The Company has not entered into any sev-
erance pay agreements with the executive 
management.

The other companies in the group shall fol-
low the main principles for remuneration 
of executives as is applicable for Webstep 
ASA. 

The Company did not enter into new em-
ployment agreements with the executive 
management or amend their existing em-
ployment agreements during 2017 in a way 
that could have a material impact on the 
Company or its shareholders.

As the Company was converted to a public 
limited liability company in the second half 
of 2017, the Company has not previously 
prepared any declaration regarding the de-

termination of salary and other remunera-
tion for the executive management. How-
ever, the Company's remuneration of the 
executive management in 2017 complied 
with the guidelines stated above, provided 
that a one-time transaction bonus was paid 
to the Company's executive management in 
connection with the listing of the Company's 
shares in 2017. 

The salary and other remuneration paid to 
the Company's executive management in 
2017 are set out above. It is noted that only 
the Company's CEO and CFO are presently 
part of the Company's executive manage-
ment.

In 2017, the Company did not pay any remu-
neration beyond what follows from the ex-
isting employment agreements with the ex-
ecutive management other than as stated 
above.

Audit fees

NOK 1 000 2017 2016

Statutory audit fees 143 139
Audit-related services 219 84
Non-audit related services - 85
Other services recognised on equity 699 198
Total fees 1 061 507

Note 04: PENSION COSTS

The Group has an occupational pension scheme in accordance with the Act on Required Oc-
cupational Pensions. The Company has defined contribution plans for all of its employees, 
governed by the employment laws. The pension premium charge was NOK 158 thousand in 
2017.		

Note 05: REVENUE BY SEGMENT

NOK 1 000 2017 2016

Per business area
Managerial services 150 250

Geographical distribution / Segment distribution
Norway 150 250

Note 06: FIXED ASSETS

NOK 1 000 2017 2016

Cost 1 January 24 24 
Additions 44 44 
Cost at 31 December 68 68 

Depreciation and impairment 31 December (23) (23)
Net book value 31 December 44 44 

Depreciation charge for the year 14 14

Useful life 3 – 5 year
Depreciation method Straight line
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Note 07: SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATED COMPANIES ETC

NOK 1 000

Company Acquired Office Ownership
Profit and 
loss 2017

Equity at 
31 Dec

Net book 
value at 
31 Dec

Webstep AS 10-05-2011 Oslo 100% 46 949 42 470 359 025
Webstep AB 19-11-2012 Stockholm 100% (1 010) 4 170 73 094
Total 45 939 46 640 432 119

Note 08: INTERCOMPANY RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES

NOK 1 000 2017 2016

Receivables
Receivable group contribution Webstep AS 66 358 79 714
Receivable Webstep AB 228 11 182
Total receivables 66 586 90 896

Payables
Trade payables Webstep AS 1 508 -
Other payables Webstep AS 11 759 61 528
Total payables 13 267 61 528

The company has received a group contribution of NOK 66 358 thousand from Webstep AS in 
2017. The group contribution is recognised as a receivable at 31 December 2017.
Webstep ASA has not purchased any goods or services from related parties in 2017 of mate-
rial amount.
Bonus payments related to the initial public offering to key employees in the group has been 
recognised as a salary expenses in Webstep ASA. 
Services for NOK 150 thousand are charged Webstep AB in 2017. Interest cost of NOK 304 
thousand is charged on payables to Webstep AS in 2017.

Note 09: OTHER CURRENT PAYABLES

NOK 1 000 2017 2016

Accrued interest cost - 1 229
Provision salaries and holiday pay 719 713
Other accruals 476 -
Total 1 195 1 942

Note 10: PLEDGES AND GUARANTEES

NOK 1 000 2017 2016

Non-current debt to credit institutions - 192 500 
Revolving credit facility SR-Bank 108 534 -

The revolving credit facility is part of the group's cash pooling system with a credit limit of 
NOK 110 million. Net drawn on the group facility at 31 December 2017 was NOK 24.3 million.
The Company has no loans with payments due past 5 years.

Booked value of assets pledged as security:

NOK 1 000 2017 2016

Shares in Webstep AS 359 025 373 776 
Shares in Webstep AB 73 094 61 234 
Fixed assets 44 15 
Receivables 66 586 90 896 
Bank deposits 628 504 
Total pledged assets 499 378 526 424
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Note 11: TAXES

Current year tax base:

NOK 1 000 2017 2016

Accounting profit before tax 21 692 57 434
Permanent differences 15 108
Share issuance cost recognised on equity (14 412) -
Group contribution recognised as income, taxable (46 949) (77 242)
Change in temporary differences (1) (462)
Tax base before group contribution (39 656) (20 162)
Received group contribution including tax 66 358 79 714
Tax base for the year 26 703 59 553
Tax payable (24%/25%) 6 409 14 888

Tax payable in the balance sheet 6 409 14 888

Income tax expenses for the year
Tax payable 6 409 14 888
Tax on group contribution not recognised in the  
profit and loss statement (4 658) 115
Total income tax expenses for the year 1 751 15 004

Temporary differences:

NOK 1 000 2017 2016

Fixed assets including goodwill 3 4
Net temporary differences at 31.12 3 4

Deferred tax assets/deferred tax (23%/24%) 1 1

Effective tax rate
Expected income tax 5 206
Permanent differences (24%) (3 455)
Effect of change in tax rate and other -
Income tax expense 1 751

Effective tax rate * 8%

* Income tax expense in relation to income before tax
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Note 12: SHARE CAPITAL AND SHAREHOLDERS

20 largest shareholders at 31 December 2017

NOK 1 000
Number of 

shares Ownership Voting rights

Global Digital Holding AS 3 844 255 14.26% 14.59%
Virtus Kar International Small-cap 2 760 800 10.24% 10.47%
Verdipapirfondet Alfred Berg Gamba 1 532 037 5.68% 5.81%
Jpmorgan Chase Bank, n.a., London 1 142 000 4.23% 4.33%
Colina Invest as 839 080 3.11% 3.18%
Park Lane Family Office AS 800 000 2.97% 3.04%
Vpf Nordea Norge Verdi 685 000 2.54% 2.60%
Nordea Nordic Small Cap Fund 671 311 2.49% 2.55%
Webstep ASA (treasury shares) 610 301 2.26% 0.00%
Goldman Sachs International 595 494 2.21% 2.26%
Xerxes as 540 000 2.00% 2.05%
Svenska Handelsbanken AB 489 160 1.81% 1.86%
Citibank, n.a. 438 491 1.63% 1.66%
Sole Active as 401 046 1.49% 1.52%
SEB Prime Solutions Carn Long Shor 400 000 1.48% 1.52%
Dnb Nor Bank Asa 395 000 1.46% 1.50%
NWT Media AS 390 000 1.45% 1.48%
Illari AS 387 268 1.44% 1.47%
Borea Global Equities Spesialfond 352 264 1.31% 1.34%
Danske Invest Norge Vekst 342 000 1.27% 1.30%
Total 20 largest shareholders 17 615 507 65.33% 64.52%
Other shareholders 9 351 510 34.67% 35.48%
Total shares 26 967 017 100.00% 100.00%

Shareholding by board and management
Nysteen Invest AS (Klaus-Anders Nysteen) 20 408 0.08% 0.08%
Colina Invest AS (Kjetil Bakke Eriksen) 839 080 3.11% 3.18%
Canacas AS (Anders Håvik Løken) 116 756 0.43% 0.44%

Share capital:

NOK 1 000 Number Face value Net book value

Ordinary shares 26 967 017 NOK 1 26 967
			 
Webstep holds 610 301 treasury shares, an equivalent of 2.26% of the shares. These shares 
have no voting rights or dividend rights.

Share issuance 2017
Cost of share issuance

NOK 1 000 Share capital Share premium Total

Issued and fully paid 5 711 131 893 137 604
Issuance cost deductible - (14 416) (14 416)
Issued and net paid 5 711 117 477 123 188
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Statement by the board of directors and the chief executive officer

We confirm to the best of our knowledge that:

■■ the consolidated financial statements for 2017 have been prepared in accordance 
with IAS as adopted by the EU, as well as additional infor¬mation requirements in 
accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act, 

■■ the financial statements for the parent company for 2017 have been prepared in 
accordance with the Nor¬wegian Accounting Act and generally accepted accounting 
practice in Norway, 

■■ the information presented in the financial statements gives a true and fair view of the 
Company’s and the Group’s assets, liabilities, financial position and results for the 
period viewed in their entirety, 

■■ the board of directors’ report gives a true and fair view of the development, 
performance and financial position of the Company and the Group, and includes a 
description of the material risks that the board of directors, at the time of this report, 
deem might have a significant impact on the financial performance of the Group.

Oslo, 21 March 2018

The board of directors and CEO
Webstep ASA

Klaus-Anders Nysteen Siw Ødegaard Terje Bakken
Chair of the board Board member  Board member 

Toril Nag Bjørn Ivar Danielsen Kjetil Bakke Eriksen
Board member  Board member CEO
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ANNUAL STATEMENT ON  
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Webstep considers good corporate governance to be a prerequisite for value 
creation and trustworthiness, and for access to capital. The board of directors 
of Webstep has established a set of governance principles in order to ensure a 
clear division of roles between the board of directors, the executive manage-
ment and the shareholders. The principles are based on the Norwegian Code of 
Practice for Corporate Governance. 

Webstep ASA ("Webstep" or the "Com-
pany" and together with its subsidiar-
ies the "Group") is a publicly listed com-
pany and is subject to annual corporate 
governance reporting requirements un-
der section 3-3b of the Norwegian Ac-
counting Act and the Norwegian Code 
of Practice for Corporate Governance, 
cf. section 7 on the continuing obliga-
tions of stock exchange listed compa-
nies. The Accounting Act may be found 
(in Norwegian) at www.lovdata.no. The 
Norwegian Code of Practice for Corpo-
rate Governance, which was last revised 
on 30 October 2014, may be found at 
www.nues.no.

The annual statement on corporate 
governance for 2017 follows below. The 
statement has been approved by the 
board of directors on 21 March 2018. 

1.	 IMPLEMENTATION AND 
REPORTING ON CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE 
The board of directors is committed to 
contribute a good and trust-based rela-
tionship between Webstep and the Com-
pany’s shareholders, the capital market, 
and other stakeholders. 

The Company’s overall principles for 
corporate governance were approved 
by the board of directors in 2017 as 
part of the preparations for the listing 
of the Company’s shares on Oslo Stock 
Exchange. The development of, and 
improvements in, the Company’s cor-
porate governance principles are ongo-
ing and important processes that the 
board of directors intends to focus on.

The Company complies with the Nor-
wegian Code of Practice for Corpo-
rate Governance (the code) issued by 
the Norwegian Corporate Governance 
Board, latest edition of 30 October 2014. 

The board of directors’ annual state-
ment on how Webstep has imple-
mented the code is set out below. The 
presentation covers each section of 
the code, and deviations from the code, 
if any, are specified under the relevant 
section. 

Corporate values 
The Company’s core values are defined 
as “being honest and uncomplicated”, 
“being innovative and competent” and 
“being engaged and quality oriented” 
and form the foundation for building a 
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positive corporate culture and for build-
ing trust among key stakeholders. 

Ethics and corporate social 
responsibility 
High ethical standards and a respon-
sible business culture builds trust and 
are prerequisites for long term value 
creation. Webstep has established in-
ternal guidelines that emphasize high, 
ethical business standards and prac-
tices. All employees are required to 
comply with the Company’s policy for 
anti-corruption and data security. 

In the view of the board, Webstep 
has internal control systems that ad-
dresses the organisation and execution 
of the financial reporting, as well as 
cover the Company’s corporate values, 
ethical guidelines and principles of cor-
porate social responsibility.

2. 	 BUSINESS 
The Company’s business objective is 
stated in the Company’s articles of  
association section 3 and reads as 
follows: “The Company’s objective is 
to own companies that offer services 
and products within the area of infor-
mation technology, as well as con-
ducting business associated there-
with.”

Webstep’s articles of association 
are available on the Company’s web-

site. The Company’s strategy is de-
scribed in the board of the directors’ 
report. 

3.	 EQUITY AND DIVIDENDS 

Equity 
As of 31 December 2017, the Company 
had a consolidated equity of NOK 357.8 
million. Consolidated equity adjusted for 
proposed dividends, will be NOK 318.2 
million. The board of directors consid-
ers that the Company has an equity cap-
ital that is appropriate to its objectives, 
strategy and risk profile.

Board authorisations 
Any authorisation granted to the board 
of directors to increase the Compa-
ny’s share capital or purchase treasury 
shares shall be restricted to defined pur-
poses. Authorisations granted to the 
board of directors to increase the share 
capital or purchase treasury shares shall 
be limited in time and shall in no event 
last longer than two years. However, it is 
recommended that an authorisation to 
increase the share capital or purchase 
of treasury shares does not last longer 
than until the Company’s next annual 
general meeting and the Company will 
follow that recommendation.

The board of directors was by the ex-
traordinary general meeting of the Com-

pany held 14 September 2017 granted 
an authorisation to purchase treasury 
shares for an amount equalling 10 per 
cent of the share capital of the Company. 
The highest amount that can be paid per 
share is NOK 100 and the lowest amount 
that can be paid per share is NOK 1. The 
authorisation to acquire treasury shares 
may be used, inter alia, as an instru-
ment to optimize the Company’s capital 
structure, in connection with issuance of 
shares in any share incentive programs 
and as full or partial considerations in 
connection with acquisitions.

The board of directors was by the ex-
traordinary general meeting of the Com-
pany held 14 September 2017 granted 
an authorisation to increase the share 
capital by up to NOK 8 500 000 to be 
used in connection with the Initial Pub-
lic Offering. The authorisation is valid 
until the General Meeting in 2018, yet no 
longer than 30 June 2018, and includes 
share capital increases with share con-
tributions in other assets than cash etc., 
but not in connection with mergers.

The extraordinary general meeting 
on 14 September 2017 also granted the 
board of directors an authorisation to 
increase the share capital by up to NOK 
2 125 500 to be used to give the board of 
directors’ financial flexibility in connec-
tion with financing further growth etc. 
of the Group. The authorisation is valid 
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until the General Meeting in 2018, yet no 
longer than 30 June 2018, and includes 
share capital increases with share con-
tribution’s in other assets than cash etc. 
and in connection with mergers. The 
preferential rights of the existing share-
holder to subscribe for new Shares pur-
suant to Section 10-4 of the Norwegian 
Public Limited Companies Act may be 
deviated from with respect to the men-
tioned existing authorisations.

Dividend 
The Company’s ambition is to distrib-
ute at least 75 per cent of its net profit. 
When deciding the annual dividend level, 
the board of directors will take into con-
sideration expected cash flow, capital 
expenditure plans, financing require-
ments and appropriate financial flexibil-
ity. For the fiscal year 2017, the board of 
directors has proposed a dividend pay-
ment of NOK 1.50 per share, represent-
ing 117 per cent of the annual net profit. 

4. 	 EQUAL TREATMENT 
OF SHAREHOLDERS AND 
TRANSACTIONS WITH CLOSE 
ASSOCIATES 
Webstep ASA has one share class, and 
all shares have equal rights in the Com-
pany. Webstep’s Corporate Governance 
Policy states that all shareholders shall 
be treated on an equal basis, unless there 
is just cause for treating them differently. 

Share issues without pre-emption 
rights for existing shareholders
In the event of an increase in share cap-
ital through issuance of new shares, a 
decision to deviate from existing share-
holders’ pre-emptive rights to subscribe 
for shares shall be justified. Where the 
board of directors resolves to issue 
shares and deviate from the pre-emptive 
rights of existing shareholders pursuant 

to an authorisation granted to the board 
of directors by the general meeting, the 
justification will be publicly disclosed in 
a stock exchange announcement issued 
in connection with the share issuance. 

Transactions in treasury shares
Any transactions carried out by the Com-
pany of treasury shares shall be carried 
out on the Oslo Stock Exchange, and in 
any case at the prevailing stock exchange 
prices. In the event that there is limited 
liquidity in the Company’s shares, the 
Company will consider other ways to en-
sure equal treatment of shareholders. Any 
transactions by the Company of treasury 
shares is subject to notification require-
ments and shall be publicly disclosed in a 
stock exchange announcement. 

Approval of agreements with 
shareholders and other close 
associates 
In the event of transactions that are con-
sidered to be non-immaterial between 
the Company and its shareholders, a 
shareholder’s parent company, members 
of the board of directors, executive per-
sonnel or close associates to any such 
party, the board of directors shall arrange 
for an independent third-party valuation. 
This will, however, not apply for transac-
tions that are subject to the approval of 
the general meeting pursuant to the pro-

PAGE  65
Webstep ASA annual report 2017
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE



visions in the Norwegian public limited 
liability companies act. Independent val-
uations shall also be procured for trans-
actions between companies within the 
Group if any of the companies involved 
have minority shareholders. 

Board members and executive per-
sonnel must notify the board of direc-
tors when such members have any sig-
nificant, direct or indirect, interest in a 
transaction carried out by the Company. 

Any transactions mentioned in this 
item are described in the notes to the 
consolidated financial statements for 
2017 in the annual report. 

5. 	 FREELY NEGOTIABLE SHARES 
The Company’s shares are freely nego-
tiable. The articles of association do not 
impose any restriction on the negotiabil-
ity of the shares.

6.	 GENERAL MEETINGS 
The annual general meeting shall dis-
cuss and decide upon the following:

1.	 Approval of the annual accounts and 
annual report, including distribution 
of dividend.

2.	Any other matters that according to 
law or the articles of association are 
to be decided upon by the general 
meeting.

Documents relating to matters to be 
dealt with by the Company’s general 
meeting, including documents which 
by law shall be included in or attached 
to the notice of the general meeting, do 
not need to be sent to the sharehold-
ers if such documents have been made 
available on the Company’s website. A 
shareholder may nevertheless request 
that documents relating to matters to be 
dealt with at the general meeting, is sent 
to him/her.

The shareholders may cast their 
votes in writing, including through elec-
tronic communication, in a period prior 
to the general meeting. The board of di-
rectors may establish specific guide-
lines for such advance voting. It must be 
stated in the notice of the general meet-
ing which guidelines have been set.

The access to cast votes in advance 
is subject to the presence of a safe 
method of authenticating the sender. 

The board of directors may decide 
that shareholders who want to partici-
pate in the general meeting must notify 
the Company thereof within a specific 
deadline that cannot expire earlier than 
three days prior to the general meeting.

Notice, registration and participation
The board makes provision for as many 
as possible of its shareholders to exer-
cise their rights by attending the gen-

eral meeting. The annual general meet-
ing will take place on 24 April 2018. The 
Company’s financial calendar is pub-
lished via Oslo Stock Exchange and 
in the investor relations section of the 
Company’s website.

The board of directors shall ensure 
that as many of the Company’s share-
holders as possible are able to exer-
cise their voting rights at the Company’s 
general meetings, and that the general 
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meeting is an effective forum for share-
holders and the board of directors.

The notice to the general meeting and 
any supporting documents, including 
the recommendation by the nomination 
committee, as well as information on the 
resolutions to be considered at the gen-
eral meeting shall be available on the 
Company’s website no later than 21 days 
prior to the date of the general meeting. 
The resolutions and any supporting doc-
umentation shall be sufficiently detailed 
and comprehensive allowing sharehold-
ers to understand and form a view on 
all matters to be considered at the gen-
eral meeting. Deadlines for shareholders 
to give notice of their attendance at the 
general meeting shall be set as close to 
the date of the general meeting as prac-
tically possible. The time limit may not 
expire earlier than three days before the 
meeting. 

The board of directors and the chair-
person of the general meeting shall en-
sure that the shareholders are able to 
vote separately on each candidate nomi-
nated for election to Webstep’s board of 
directors and other corporate bodies (if 
applicable). 

Participation without attendance 
Shareholders who are unable to attend 
the general meeting shall be given the 
opportunity to be represented by proxy 

and to vote by proxy. The Company shall 
in this respect: 

■■ provide information on the procedure 
for attending by proxy; 

■■ nominate a person who will be availa-
ble to vote on behalf of shareholders 
as their proxy; and 

■■ prepare a proxy form, which shall, in-
sofar as this is possible, be set up so 
that it is possible to vote on each of 
the items on the agenda and candi-
dates that are nominated for election. 

Chairing meetings, elections, etc.
The Company’s chair of the board and 
chief executive are required to attend, 
and the complete board of directors is 
encouraged to attend the general meet-
ings, following the instructions for the 
board. 

Members of the nomination commit-
tee, the audit committee and the remu-
neration committee, as well as the au-
ditor shall and will be present at general 
meetings where matters of relevance 
for such committees/persons are on the 
agenda. The Company’s auditor is pres-
ent at the annual general meeting.

Deviation from the code: The gen-
eral meeting is opened by the chair of 

the board or the person appointed by the 
board, and the chair of the meeting is 
elected by the meeting. 

The general meeting elects the mem-
bers of the nomination committee as 
well as the shareholder-elected directors 
on the board.

Minutes from general meetings are 
published as soon as practicable via 
the stock exchange’s reporting system 
(www.newsweb.no, ticker code: WSTEP) 
and in the investor relations section of 
the Company’s website. 

7. 	 NOMINATION COMMITTEE 
The Company’s articles of association 
§8 provide for a nomination commit-
tee composed of two to three members. 
The current members of the nomination 
committee are John Bjerkan (chair) and 
Sonja Cassidy. 

The instructions for the nomination 
committee were adopted by the general 
meeting on 14 September 2017. 

Responsibilities 
The nomination committee shall recom-
mend: 

(i) 	 Candidates for the election of mem-
bers, including chairman, to (a) the 
board of directors of the Company 
and (b) the nomination committee, 
respectively; and 
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(ii) 	 Remuneration of the members of 
(a) the board of directors and (b) the 
nomination committee, respectively. 

The present nomination committee 
was elected before the public listing of 
the Company, at the extraordinary gen-
eral meeting of 14 September 2017. It 
comprises John Bjerkan (chair) and 
Sonja Cassidy. No directors or mem-
bers of executive management are rep-
resented on the nomination commit-
tee. The current nomination commit-
tee is independent of the board of di-
rectors. None of the two members are 
members of the supervisory board or 
the board of directors. 

The chief executive officer and other 
members of the executive management 
are not to be elected as members of the 
nomination committee. The board of di-
rectors is committed to ensure that the 
composition of the nomination commit-
tee should be such that the interests of 
shareholders in general are represented. 
The Company’s guidelines for the nomi-
nation committee include rules for rota-
tion of the members. 

The objectives, responsibilities and 
functions of the nomination committee 
shall be in compliance with rules and 
standards applicable to the Group and 
which are described in the Company’s 
“Instructions for the nomination com-

mittee”. The general meeting shall adopt 
the guidelines for the nomination com-
mittee. The Company shall provide infor-
mation regarding the composition of the 
nomination committee, the members 
of the nomination committee and dead-
lines for submitting proposals to the 
nomination committee. 

Tasks 
The nomination committee’s tasks are 
set out in the articles of association and 
include to; nominate new board mem-
bers to the general meeting, propose re-
muneration to the board members at the 
general meeting, propose remuneration 
to the members of the nomination com-
mittee, and to nominate new members 
of the nomination committee to the gen-
eral meeting. 

The remuneration of the committee 
is determined by the general meeting. 
The general meeting may issue further 
guidelines for the nomination commit-
tee’s work.

Pursuant to the code, the composi-
tion of the nomination committee must 
take account of the interests of share-
holders in general. 

Procedures for shareholders to sub-
mit nominations to the nomination com-
mittee will be implemented in advance 
of the relevant annual general meeting. 
Further details and deadlines for sub-

mission will be published on the Compa-
ny’s website.

8. 	 CORPORATE ASSEMBLY 
AND BOARD OF DIRECTORS, 
COMPOSITION AND 
INDEPENDENCE 
The articles of association states that 
the board of directors shall consist of 
between three and ten members and are 
elected to a two year-term. The board 
currently consists of five sharehold-
er-elected directors and three employee 
appointed observers.  The Company’s 
corporate governance documents states 
that when considering members to the 
board of directors, emphasis should be 
placed on the joint composition of the 
board of directors with respect to exper-
tise, capacity and diversity appropriate 
to attend to the Company's goals, main 
challenges and the common interests of 
all shareholders. Details on background, 
experience and independence of direc-
tors are presented on the Company’s 
website. The Group and the majority of 
the employees have agreed that the em-
ployees shall have the right to appoint 
three observers to the board of directors 
of the Company instead of having a cor-
porate assembly. 

Four out of five shareholder elected 
directors are independent of the Compa-
ny’s executive management, significant 
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commercial partners or substantial share-
holders. The board of directors does not 
include any members from the executive 
management of the Company. The chair-
man of the board of directors was elected 
by the extraordinary general meeting of 
the Company on 14 September 2017. 

15 board meetings were held in 2017. 
Each board member’s attendance at 
board meetings is recorded by the Com-
pany.

Members of the board of directors 
are encouraged to own shares in the 
Company. However, caution should be 
taken not to let this encourage a short-
term approach which is not in the best 
interests of the Company and its share-
holders over the longer term.

9.	 THE WORK OF THE  
BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
The board of directors has overall re-
sponsibility for managing the Group and 
for supervising the chief executive and 
the Group’s activities. 

The board of directors establishes 
annual plans for its work, with particular 
emphasis on objectives, strategy and 
implementation. The board of directors 
has issued instructions for its own work 
as well as for the executive manage-
ment with particular emphasis on clear 
internal allocation of responsibilities 
and duties.

The principal tasks of the board in-
clude determining the Company’s strat-
egy and monitoring how it is imple-
mented. The work of the board also in-
cludes control functions needed ensure 
acceptable management of the Compa-
ny’s assets. 

The board appoints the Company’s 
chief executive officer. Instructions 
which describe the rules of procedure 
for the board’s work and its considera-

tion of matters have been adopted by 
the board together with an instruction of 
the duties and obligations of the chief 
executive officer towards the board. The 
division of labour between the board and 
the chief executive is specified in greater 
detail in the instructions. The chief exec-
utive is responsible for the Company’s 
executive management. Responsibility 
for ensuring that the board conducts its 
work in an efficient and correct manner 
rests with the chair of the board.  

The board establishes an annual plan 
for its meetings and evaluates its work 
and expertise once a year. The annual 
plan specifies topics for board meet-
ings, including reviewing and following 
up the Company’s goals and strategy, 
budgets, reporting of financial informa-
tion, the notice for the general meeting 
with associated documentation, and the 
board’s meeting with the auditor.

The board of directors has elected an 
audit committee amongst its members 
and adopted instructions for the work of 
the audit committee. 

The committee currently comprises 
of Bjørn Ivar Danielsen as the leader and 
Siw Ødegaard as member. All members 
of the audit committee are independent 
of the Company.

Pursuant to section 6-43 of the Nor-
wegian Public Limited Liability Compa-
nies Act, the audit committee shall:
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■■ prepare the board of directors’ super-
vision of the Company’s financial re-
porting process;

■■ monitor the systems for internal con-
trol and risk management;

■■ have continuous contact with the 
Company’s auditor regarding the au-
dit of the annual accounts; and

■■ review and monitor the independence 
of the Company’s auditor, including 
in particular the extent to which ser-
vices other than auditing provided by 
the auditor or the audit firm represent 
a threat to the independence of the 
auditor.

The Company has established a remu-
neration committee that consists of two 
members of the board. The members 
of the remuneration committee are and 
shall be independent of the Company’s 
executive management. The members 
of the remuneration committee are ap-
pointed by the board of directors for a 
period of two years, or until they resign 
their position as a member of the board 
of directors. The committee currently 
consists of Klaus-Anders Nysteen as the 
leader and Terje Bakken as member.

The remuneration committee is a pre-
paratory and advisory committee for the 

board that shall prepare matters for the 
board’s consideration and decisions re-
garding the remuneration of, and other 
matters pertaining to the Company’s 
management. The recommendations of 
the remuneration committee shall cover 
all aspects of remuneration to the man-
agement, including but not limited to sal-
aries, allowances, bonuses, options and 
benefits-in-kind.

The board of directors has adopted 
separate instructions for the remuner-
ation committee setting out further de-
tails on the duties, composition and pro-
cedures of the committee.

The board evaluates its own work and 
that of the chief executive and reports its 
findings to the nomination committee. 

In order to ensure a more independ-
ent consideration of matters of a ma-
terial character in which the chairman 
of the board is, or has been, personally 
involved, the board’s consideration of 
such matters will be chaired by some 
other member of the board

10.	 RISK MANAGEMENT AND 
INTERNAL CONTROL 
The board of directors is responsible of 
ensuring that the Company has sound 
and appropriate internal control systems 
and systems for risk management, and 
that these systems are proportionate to 
and reflect the extent and nature of the 

Company’s activities. Having effective in-
ternal control systems and systems for 
risk management in place may prevent 
the Group from situations that can dam-
age its reputation or financial standing. 

Furthermore, effective and proper in-
ternal control and risk management are 
important factors when building and 
maintaining trust, to reach the Compa-
ny’s objectives, and ultimately create 
value. Having in place an effective inter-
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nal control system means that the Com-
pany is better suited to manage com-
mercial risk, operational risk, the risk of 
breaching legislation and regulations as 
well as other forms of risk that may be 
material to the Company. As such, there 
is a correlation between the Company’s 
internal control systems and effective 
risk management. The internal control 
system shall also address the organisa-
tion and execution of the Company’s fi-
nancial reporting, as well as cover the 
Company’s corporate values, ethical 
guidelines and principles of corporate 
social responsibility. 

Webstep shall comply with all laws 
and regulations that apply to the Group’s 
business activities.

The Company has in place processes 
and routines for internal control over fi-
nancial reporting and risk management. 
During 2017, these processes have been 
under review to fully comply with the 
code.

Through its business activities, Web-
step manages various risks and uncer-
tainties of operational, market and finan-
cial character, such as risk of disagree-
ments and legal disputes with its cus-
tomers related to possible cost of delays 
or project errors that is always present 
in the consultancy business. 

The Company identifies and manages 
risks on an ongoing basis. The main risk 

factors and how they are managed is de-
scribed in the board of directors’ report.

The organisation comprises a rela-
tively large number of employees and 
projects. The Group’s management 
model is based on an appropriate dele-
gation of authority, clearly defined mar-
ket and operating parameters, in addi-
tion to effective internal control.

Overall goals and strategies are es-
tablished and further developed through 
a periodic update of the Company’s 
strategy. Risk management is in place 
with clear routines for handling opera-
tional and project risks. Furthermore, 
processes are established to identify, 
evaluate and report risk in a systematic 
manner for the Group’s activities. 

Financial risk is managed in accord-
ance with the Company’s financial strat-
egy, which is described under the sec-
tion “Financial risk and risk manage-
ment” in the board of directors’ report. 

The board is responsible for seeing 
to that the enterprise, financial report-
ing and asset management are subject 
to satisfactory controls. Overall policies, 
governing processes and routines have 
been established for day-to-day man-
agement. The board periodically reviews 
the Company’s governing documents. 
The board reviews annually the most im-
portant risk areas and the internal con-
trols established to mitigate these risks. 

Reporting
Pursuant to the corporate governance 
policy, the board of directors shall an-
nually review the Company’s most im-
portant areas of risk exposure and the 
internal control arrangement in place 
for such areas. The review shall pay at-
tention to any material shortcomings or 
weaknesses in the Company’s internal 
control and how risks are being man-
aged. In the annual report, the board of 
directors shall describe the main fea-
tures of the Company’s internal control 
and risk management systems as they 
are connected to the Company’s finan-
cial reporting. This shall cover the con-
trol environment in the Company, risk 
assessment, control activities and infor-
mation, communication and follow-up. 
The board of directors is obligated to en-
sure that it is updated on the Company’s 
financial situation and shall continually 
evaluate whether the Company’s equity 
and liquidity are adequate in relation to 
the risk from the Company’s activities, 
and take immediate action if the Com-
pany’s equity or liquidity at any time is 
shown to be inadequate. The Company’s 
management shall focus on frequent 
and relevant reporting of both opera-
tional and financial matters to the board 
of directors, where the purpose is to en-
sure that the board of directors has suf-
ficient information for decision-making 
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and is able to respond quickly to chang-
ing conditions. Board meetings shall be 
held frequently, and management re-
ports shall be provided to the board as a 
minimum on a monthly basis. Financial 
performance shall be reported on quar-
terly basis.

The administration prepares periodic 
reports on business and operational de-
velopments to the board, which are dis-
cussed at the board meetings. These 
reports are based on management’s re-
views of the various parts of the busi-
ness and include status of key perfor-
mance indicators, update of market de-
velopment, operational issues, financial 
results and highlights of organisational 
issues. 

Financial position and results are fol-
lowed up in monthly accounting reports, 
compared to prior year, budgets and fore-
casts. Reporting also includes non-finan-
cial key performance indicators related 
to each business area. In addition, the 
administration prepares a long term fore-
cast of financial trends, showing profits 
and cash flow development. 

The interim reports and annual finan-
cial statements are reviewed by the au-
dit committee ahead of the discussions 
in the board meeting. Financial risk man-
agement and internal control are also 
addressed by the board’s audit commit-
tee. The latter reviews the external audi-

tor’s findings and assessments after the 
interim and annual financial audits. Sig-
nificant issues in the auditor’s report, if 
any, are reviewed by the board.	

11.	 REMUNERATION OF THE 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
The remuneration to the board of direc-
tors is described in note 6 to the finan-
cial statements. The Company consid-
ers that the remuneration reflects the 
board of director’s responsibility, exper-
tise, time commitment and the complex-
ity of the Company’s activities.

Directors’ fees are determined by the 
general meeting on the basis of recom-
mendations from the nomination com-
mittee. These fees have been based on 
the board’s responsibility, expertise and 
the complexity of the business, and have 
not been related to results. The directors 
have not been awarded options. 

An overview of shares owned by the 
directors and their close associates is 
included in note 15 to the consolidated 
financial statements. 

12.	 REMUNERATION OF 
EXECUTIVE PERSONNEL 
The Company’s guidelines for determin-
ing salary and other remuneration to 
the executive management should at all 
times support prevailing strategy and 
values in the Company. 

The Company’s guidelines for the re-
muneration of executive management 
are described in note 6 to the consoli-
dated financial statements. This note 
also provides further details about remu-
neration in 2017 for the executive man-
agement. The guidelines are presented 
annually to the annual general meeting 
and include the main principles for the 
Company's remuneration policy as well 
as contribute to align the interests of 
shareholders and the executive manage-
ment. 

The guidelines specify the main prin-
ciples for the Company’s salary and re-
muneration policy for the executive man-
agement, and have been framed with 
the aim of ensuring that the interests 
of shareholders and executive manage-
ment coincide. No share options have 
been issued to employees or elected of-
ficers of the Company. 

13.	 INFORMATION AND 
COMMUNICATION 
The Company has established an over-
all communications policy, which states 
that the communication activities shall 
be characterised by transparency, hon-
esty, consistency and right timing.

Furthermore, the Company has an IR 
policy, which states that all communica-
tion with the financial community shall 
be on an equal treatment basis and in 
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compliance with applicable laws and 
regulation. Webstep shall continually 
provide its shareholders, the Oslo Stock 
Exchange and the securities market and 
financial market in general with timely 
and precise information about Webstep 
and its operations.

CEO and CFO are responsible for the 
main dialogue with the investor commu-
nity, hereunder the Company’s share-
holders. 

Information to the stock market is 
published in the form of annual and in-
terim reports, press releases, stock ex-
change announcements and investor 
presentations. All information consid-
ered to be relevant and significant for 
valuing the Company’s shares will be 
distributed and published in English via 
Oslo Stock Exchange disclosure system, 
www.newsweb.no, and via the Compa-
ny’s website https://investor.webstep.
com. 

Webstep has implemented a system 
ensuring that all information distributed to 
the Company’s shareholders will be pub-
lished on the Company’s website at the 
same time as it is sent to shareholders. 

The Company will publish an annual, 
electronic financial calendar with an over-
view of dates for important events, such 
as the annual general meeting, interim fi-
nancial reports, public presentations and 
payment of dividends, if applicable. The 
information shall be available in English. 

Unless there are applicable exemp-
tions, and these are invoked, Webstep 
shall promptly disclose all inside infor-
mation (as defined by the Norwegian se-
curities trading act). In any event, Web-
step will provide information about cer-
tain events, e.g. by the board of directors 
and the general meeting concerning div-
idends, mergers/demergers or changes 
to the share capital, the issuing of sub-

scription rights, convertible loans and 
all agreements of major importance that 
are entered into by Webstep and related 
parties. 

Separate guidelines have been drawn 
up for handling of inside information, see 
"Instructions for handling of inside infor-
mation" and "Instructions for primary in-
siders". The Company also has in place a 
policy on whom in the board of directors 
who is entitled to publically speak on be-
half of the Company on various subjects. 

Information to shareholders in addi-
tion to the board of directors' dialogue 
with the Company's shareholders at the 
general meetings, the board of directors 
should make suitable arrangements for 
shareholders to communicate with the 
Company at other times. This will enable 
the board of directors to develop an un-
derstanding of the matters regarding the 
Company that are of a particular concern 
or interest to its shareholders. Communi-
cations with the shareholders should al-
ways be in compliance with the provisions 
of applicable laws and regulations and 
in accordance with the principle of equal 
treatment of the Company's shareholders.  

14.	 TAKEOVERS 
The board has established main principles 
for responding to possible takeover bids. 

In the event of a take-over bid being 
made for the Company, the board will 
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follow the overriding principle of equal 
treatment for all shareholders, and will 
seek to ensure that the Company’s busi-
ness activities are not disrupted unnec-
essarily. The board will strive to ensure 
that shareholders are given sufficient 
information and time to form a view of 
the offer.

The board will not seek to prevent any 
take-over bid unless it believes that the 
interests of the Company and the share-
holders justify such actions. The board 
will not exercise mandates or pass any 
resolutions with the intention of ob-
structing any take-over bid unless this is 
approved by the general meeting follow-
ing the announcement of the bid.

If a take-over bid is made, the board 
will issue a statement in accordance 
with statutory requirements and the rec-
ommendations in the code.

In the event of a take-over bid, the 
board will obtain a valuation from an in-
dependent expert. 

Any transaction that is in effect a dis-
posal of the Company’s activities will be 
submitted to the general meeting for its 
approval.

15.	 AUDITOR 
The Company’s auditor, EY, submits the 
main features of the plan for the audit of 
the Company to the audit committee an-
nually.

■■ Presented the main features of the 
audit work

■■ Attended board meetings consider-
ing the annual report, reviewing pos-
sible significant changes in account-
ing principles, assessing significant 
accounting estimates, and consider-
ing all cases where possible disagree-
ments arose between auditor and ex-
ecutive management.

■■ Conducted a review together with 
the board of the Company’s inter-
nal control procedures and systems, 
including the identification of weak-
nesses and proposals for improve-
ments

■■ Held a meeting with the board with-
out the presence of the executive 
management

■■ Confirmed that the requirements for 
the auditor’s independence were ful-
filled, and provided an overview of 
services other than auditing which 
have been rendered to the Company

EY has attended one meeting with the 
audit committee, which included re-
viewing results from the audit in prepa-
ration for the year-end closing of ac-
counts for 2017.

The board has not established guide-
lines for the Company’s management 
use of the auditor for substantial as-
signments other than ordinary auditing 
services. 

The board reports annually to the an-
nual general meeting on the auditor’s 
overall fees, broken down between au-
dit work and other services. The annual 
general meeting approves the auditor’s 
fees for the parent company.
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